
Date Published:5 July 2018     

Police and Crime Panel

Friday 13 July 2018 at 10.00 am

Council Chamber - Shire Hall, Gloucester

AGENDA

1  ELECTION OF CHAIR 

The Chairman of the Police and Crime Panel will be appointed by the 
panel members each year and will be drawn from amongst the councillors 
sitting on the panel.

Stephen Bace

2  ELECTION OF VICE CHAIR 

The Vice-Chairman will be appointed each year and will be drawn from 
amongst the councillors sitting on the panel.

Stephen Bace

3  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST Stephen Bace

4  MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING (Pages 1 - 4) Stephen Bace

5  POLICE AND CRIME PANEL: TERMS OF REFERENCE (Pages 5 - 20)

The Panel to note the terms of references and rules of procedure outlining 
the responsibilities of the Panel. 

Stephen Bace

6  POLICE FUNDING (Pages 21 - 30)

The Commissioner to update the Panel with regards to responding to the 
following:

At the meeting of Gloucestershire County Council held on 16 May 2018, 
the following motion was passed:

RESOLVED that this Council acknowledges the hard work of 
Gloucestershire’s Police in difficult circumstances. It also notes that the 
county receives less for policing per head of population from the main 

PCC Martin Surl



    

central grant compared to the national average.

 

The Council also notes that violent crime rose by 26% and total recorded 
crime by 13% in 2016-17.

 

The Council therefore asks that the Leader publicly thanks the county’s 
police for the job they do and asks that he writes to the Office of the Police 
and Crime Commissioner to enquire if:

·         Their plans within their precept rise (5.6%) still include 30 additional 
officers and staff?

·         If they are lobbying for ‘city status’ for our urban area to increase central 
funding and officer numbers?

·         If nearly 20% of annual expenditure in reserves are necessary?

·         If a £17 million spend on estates over the next 4 years is best value for 
the public?

·         The Commissioner’s fund is a little over £1 million per annum but at 31 
March 2018 had a carry forward of £1.5 million. Is this a good use of 
public money?

·         Is £300,000 spent on police horses a necessary cost?

·         Is the new cost of £45,000 per annum from appointing a Deputy Police 
and Crime Commissioner appropriate?

·         What is the Chief Constable’s plan to address the rise in crime?

·         How much was spent on the Commissioner’s plan to take over the Fire 
and Rescue Service?

7  CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S REPORT (Pages 31 - 40)

The report is intended to assist the Panel in reviewing and scrutinising 
decisions made and actions taken by the Commissioner, in accordance 
with its statutory responsibilities.

Paul Trott



    

8  ANNUAL REPORT (Pages 41 - 48)

To review the annual report and make a report or recommendations to the 
commissioner. The panel is to ask the commissioner questions, as 
appropriate, on the annual report. 

PCC Martin Surl

9  POLICE AND CRIME PLAN PRIORITIES HIGHLIGHT REPORT (Pages 
49 - 68)

The purpose of the Police and Crime Plan Priorities Quarterly Highlight 
Report is to provide all stakeholders with an update that monitors progress 
in respect of each of the Priorities, to include:

·         activities achieved during the current quarter;

·         activities expected during the next quarter;

·         any risks or issues identified will be managed through the risk and 
issue registers;

·         overview of budget.
 
This report is a summary against activities. Members should note that this 
information is retrospective for the reporting quarter mentioned; as such 
it is an executive summary.

Richard Bradley

10  ASSOCIATION OF POLICE AND CRIME PANELS (Pages 69 - 72)

To consider proposals to join the association.

11  CONFIRMATORY HEARING - CHIEF FINANCE OFFICER (Pages 73 - 
82)

The candidate is given an opportunity to address the Panel and then
answer questions from the members.
 
The attached papers include guidance on how the Panel will conduct the
hearing alongside papers relating to the appointment. The Panel is 
provided with:

·         The name of the person whom the PCC is proposing to appoint
·         The criteria used to assess the suitability of the candidate for the 

appointment
·         Why the candidate satisfies the criteria
·         The terms and conditions on which the candidate is to be appointed

PCC Martin Surl



    

Membership –  Cllr David Brown, Cllr Joe Harris, Cllr Colin Hay, Cllr Loraine Patrick, 
Cllr Steve Robinson, Cllr Brian Tipper and Cllr Will Windsor-Clive Cllr Julian Beale, Cllr Jonny 
Brownsteen, Cllr Gerald Dee, Cllr Rob Garnham, Cllr Bruce Hogan, Cllr Keith Pearson, Cllr Mattie 
Ross and Cllr Louis Savage, Cllr Collette Finnegan

Added Members - William Alexander (GCC),  and Martin Smith (Independent member)

(a) DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Members requiring advice or clarification about 
whether to make a declaration of interest are invited to contact the Monitoring Officer 
(Jane Burns 01452 328472 /fax: 425149/ e-mail: Jane.Burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk) 
prior to the start of the meeting.

(b) INSPECTION OF PAPERS AND GENERAL QUERIES - If you wish to inspect Minutes or 
Reports relating to any item on this agenda or have any other general queries about the 
meeting, please contact:
Stephen Bace, Senior Democratic Services Officer (Scrutiny Team)
:01452 324204 /fax: 425850/e-mail: stephen.bace@gloucestershire.gov.uk

(c) GENERAL ARRANGEMENTS
1 Will Members please sign the attendance list.
2 Please note that substitution arrangements are in place for Scrutiny (see p64 of the 

Constitution).

Please note that photography, filming and audio recording of Council meetings is permitted subject 
to the Local Government Access to Information provisions.  Please contact Democratic Services (tel 
01452 324202) to make the necessary arrangements ahead of the meeting.  If you are a member of 
the public and do not wish to be photographed or filmed please inform the Democratic Services 
Officer on duty at the meeting.

EVACUATION PROCEDURE - in the event of the fire alarms sounding during the meeting please leave as 
directed in a calm and orderly manner and go to the assembly point which is outside the main entrance to 
Shire Hall in Westgate Street.  Please remain there and await further instructions.

mailto:Jane.Burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:andrea.clarke@gloucestershire.gov.uk


- 1 -

POLICE AND CRIME PANEL
MINUTES of the meeting of the Police and Crime Panel held on Friday 16 March 
2018 commencing at 10.00 am.

            Present: 
William Alexander
Cllr Julian Beale
Cllr David Brown
Cllr Gerald Dee
Cllr Joe Harris
Cllr Colin Hay
Cllr Jane Horne
Cllr Helena McCloskey
Cllr Karen McKeown

Cllr Chris Nelson
Cllr Keith Pearson
Cllr Steve Robinson
Martin Smith
Cllr Ray Theodoulou
Cllr Brian Tipper
Cllr Clive Walford
Cllr Will Windsor-Clive

In attendance: Martin Surl, Paul Trott, Chris Brierley, Richard Bradley, and Jo 
Moore

5. APOLOGIES 

Apologies were received from Cllr Loraine Patrick, (substituted by Cllr Ray 
Theodoulou); Cllr Collette Finnegan, (substituted by Cllr Clive Walford); Cllr Ray 
Brassington, (substituted by Cllr Joe Harris); Cllr Bruce Hogan, (substituted by Cllr 
Jane Horne); and Cllr Rob Garnham.

6. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

No declarations of interest were made at the meeting. 

7. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 

The minutes of the meeting held on 5 February 2018 were confirmed and agreed as 
a correct record of that meeting. 

8. RESTORATIVE GLOUCESTERSHIRE 

Becky Beard, Restorative Gloucestershire Manager, gave a detailed presentation 
on the Restorative Gloucestershire Partnership. 

Members received a short introduction from the Police and Crime Commissioner, 
who explained that Restorative Gloucestershire started out as a small project in 
2010 based on victim and offender conferencing in HMP Gloucester.

Page 1

Agenda Item 4



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

Funded by Restorative Solutions, the partnership expanded to the Cheltenham and 
Cotswold areas with one part time project manager and one full time co-ordinator. 
In 2013, following a review of community resolutions, it was agreed the 
Constabulary would cease community resolutions (CR) and re-train all front line 
officers to deliver restorative interventions, a decision based on the effectiveness of 
reducing re-offending and improving victim satisfaction via this route. At this time, 
the Police and Crime Commissioner took over the funding for Restorative 
Gloucestershire and support for the service. 

The work undertaken by Restorative Gloucestershire consists of a number of work 
streams; these can be divided into two main areas. The first element involves 
recruiting, training and supporting partner agencies to deliver restorative 
interventions. The majority of this activity is managed by the hub manager and 
police sergeant. This involves mostly low level cases, working with the police and 
partner agencies on cases such as shoplifting and theft. The second element 
involves the referral system for complex and sensitive cases. This involves working 
with partner agencies on complex community and family issues, as well as post-
sentence cases such as burglary, GBH and murder. The work requires close 
management and high levels of training for facilitators, as well as signposting to 
support agencies. This work is managed by the volunteer manager and involves 
recruiting, training and managing the facilitators and their case loads. At the time of 
the presentation, there were around 30 volunteer facilitators plus 100 volunteers 
across the partnership. 

During the presentation, panel members were informed Gloucestershire Restorative 
was a group of statutory, non-statutory and voluntary sector partners working 
together with the aim of offering people coming into contact with the criminal justice 
system the opportunity to participate in restorative intervention. 

Restorative Gloucestershire is funded by the Office of the Police and Crime 
Commissioner and is governed and held accountable by the Restorative 
Gloucestershire Partnership. 

Progress during the past 12 months has seen a substantial expansion of the 
Partnership. Outlining some of the developments constituting this expansion, it was 
confirmed that the number of staff and facilitators working with the Partnership had 
increased significantly during the past year, allowing more interventions to be 
delivered and increasing the amount of training provided to organisations. 

Restorative Gloucestershire was also working with the County Council, focussing 
on implementing the use of restorative practice within Children and Young People’s 
services. 

Drawing on the pride of receiving awards for the work undertaken by the 
Partnership, Becky outlined some of the specific achievements achieved during the 
past year, informing the Panel that 84% of offenders taken from a sample of 4000 
people over 4 years had not reoffended after 2013. The ability to provide people 
entering the criminal justice system with the opportunity to make a change in their 

Page 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

lives or not having to go through the court or legal process remained the highest 
category of achievement.  

The Panel welcomed the update and commended the work being undertaken within 
schools and in collaboration with victim support services. It was noted that the 
council was currently engaging with a number of schools as part of a review of the 
high rate of permanent exclusions in Gloucestershire. One panel member 
suggested that the Police Crime Panel needed to accentuate this issue and 
proposed that a letter be written to the Home Office to express concerns about the 
costs of exclusion and the impact on the County. The suggestion was noted. 
Action by - Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner

9. CHIEF EXECUTIVE REPORT 

Paul Trott, Chief Executive  of the Commissioner’s Office, introduced the report and 
gave an update on the activities of the Police and Crime Commissioner’s Office. 

Key messages highlighted by the report included: 

a) A summary of the decisions recorded by the Office of the Police and Crime 
Commissioner (OPCC) for the period January to February 2018. 

b) Information relating to the process for recruiting a number of new posts to 
the OPCC, including the post of Chief Finance Officer. 

c) Recognition at the recent iESE Public Sector Transformation Awards, where 
Gloucestershire OPCC received a bronze award for community engagement 
and the Commissioner’s Fund received a gold award and named Police 
Service of the Year. 

An in-depth discussion was held on the crime rates in rural areas in 
Gloucestershire, with Cllr Joe Harris commending the OPCC for the encouraging 
reduction of crime within the Cotswold District, recently reduced by 6 %. 

Cllr Ray Theodoulou expressed a slightly different viewpoint, highlighting concerns 
about limited resources and the recent spate of crimes in the Lechlade area. Cllr 
Theodoulou, nevertheless, commended the outcomes of a recent meeting with local 
police to try to better understand some of the issues. 

A request was made for more up-to-date figures to reflect a more accurate picture 
of crime rates in rural areas and to highlight trends associated with crimes by 
offenders from out of county and the impact on crime rates in Gloucestershire. 
Action by - Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner

The report was noted. 

Page 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

10. PCP HIGHLIGHT REPORT 

Richard Bradley, Deputy Chief Executive of the Office of the Police and Crime 
Commissioner, gave an update on the Police and Crime Plan for the period 
November 2017 to January 2018. Richard outlined the 6 priority areas for delivery 
of the plan and explained that the priorities would continue to be developed over 
the period 2017-2021. 

Concerns were raised about whether the objectives relating to child protection 
needed refreshing. With additional officers assigned to meeting this objective and 
subject to regular monitoring, the Panel was assured the activities relating to this 
priority were being taken very seriously. Work between the Police and Crime 
Commissioner's Office and the County Council continued. 

Praising the work of the neighbourhood policing team, one member suggested that 
the Panel invite a representative from the team to attend future Police and Crime 
Panel meetings. The Panel agreed that improved communications and first hand 
knowledge of some of the issues being experienced in local communities could add 
value to the meetings. Action by - Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner

Expressing a specific interest in the activities of the Mounted Police Section, 
members praised the work of the Community Harm Reduction Team and requested 
regular updates on the initiative at future Police and Crime Panel meetings. One 
member raised concerns about the need for improved driver awareness in respect 
of riders on horseback and horses on highways. The concerns were noted. 

The Panel considered some of the planned activities aimed at ensuring safer cyber 
in Gloucestershire. Planned activities for the next quarter included; the deployment 
of an integrated harm reduction communications plan; the introduction of a phased 
approach for the deployment of a centralised content management system for 
partner agencies and staff engaged in content delivery; development of a staff 
security awareness training programme for the County Council; the rebranding and 
restructuring of the Gloucestershire Safer Cyber Forum to provide training and 
advice through adult education services; the finalising of plans for the 2018 
Gloucester Business Show, (with a focus on establishing improved business risk 
awareness and reducing cyber crime), and; continuation of upskilling the control 
room staff to ensure the best possible service is provided in relation to digital harm 
reduction and cybercrime. 

The Panel welcomed the initiatives and requested regular updates at future 
meetings. Action by - Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner. It was 
agreed this particular area of concern needed to be taken very seriously. 

The report was noted.

CHAIRPERSON

Meeting concluded at 12.15 pm

Page 4



Annex A 

GLOUCESTERSHIRE POLICE AND CRIME PANEL  

TERMS OF REFERENCE 

The functions of the panel are to be exercised with a view to supporting the effective 

exercise of the functions of the Police and Crime Commissioner. The panel is under 

a duty to support, as well as challenge, the commissioner.   

 

1) To review the draft police and crime plan, or draft variation, given to the panel 

by the Police and Crime Commissioner. The panel must make a report or 

recommendations to the commissioner.   

2) To review the annual report and make a report or recommendations to the 

commissioner. The panel is to ask the commissioner questions, as 

appropriate, on the annual report. 

3)  To hold a confirmation hearing and review, make a report, and 

recommendation of proposed senior appointments made by the Police and 

Crime Commissioner, this includes: 

a) The commissioner’s chief executive 

b) The commissioner’s chief finance officer 

c) A deputy police and crime commissioner 

The panel has the power to veto the appointment of the Chief Constable. 

4) To review and make a report and recommendation (as necessary) on the 

proposed precept. The panel has the power to veto the proposed precept. 

5) To review or scrutinise decisions made, or other action taken, by the Police 

and Crime Commissioner in connection with the discharge of the 

commissioner’s functions.  

6) To fulfil functions in relation to complaints about conduct matters, in 

accordance with the responsibilities accorded to the Panel by the Police 

Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011. 

7) To appoint an Acting Police and Crime Commissioner if necessary. 

 

 

 

Page 5

Agenda Item 5



Annex B 

GLOUCESTERSHIRE POLICE AND CRIME PANEL 

PANEL ARRANGEMENTS 

 

1 OPERATING ARRANGEMENTS  

1.1  Gloucestershire County Council shall act as the host authority in establishing 

the Police and Crime Panel and provide the necessary officer support. 

1.2 The panel shall be made up of a minimum of 10 councillors and two 

independent members.      

1.3 The elected membership shall be made up of a minimum of six district 

councillors and a minimum of four county councillors.  Each council will 

appoint deputies equivalent to the number of members it has appointed to the 

panel.  

1.4 Gloucestershire County Council as host authority shall promote the role of the 

police and crime panel through meetings held in public. 

1.5 Any funding provided by the Home Office to meet the costs of establishing, 

supporting and running the panel will be managed by Gloucestershire County 

Council as host authority.  

 

2 ELECTED MEMBERSHIP 

2.1 All county councillors and district councillors in the county of Gloucestershire 

are eligible to be members of the panel. 

2.2 Included in the panel’s membership will be one councillor from each district 

council.   

2.3 The 10 elected members of the panel will be appointed in May 2012 at the 

annual meeting of each council.  Named deputies will be appointed for each 

member.  

2.4 Future appointments will be made at each annual meeting or at the annual 

meeting following an election. Terms of office may not be for more than four 

years, but members may subsequently be appointed for more than one term.    

2.5 The panel membership shall, as far as is reasonably practicable, meet the 

balanced appointment objective as set out in the Police Reform and Social 

Responsibility Act 2011.  

Page 6



2.6 The panel may resolve to co-opt additional elected members if, for example, 

the appointments made by each council do not meet the balanced 

appointment objective across the whole panel. The co-opted elected 

members may be drawn from the county council or the district councils and 

will be recommended to the panel by the Leader of Gloucestershire County 

Council following consultation with Leadership Gloucestershire. The 

appointment of co-opted elected members will be reviewed annually. 

2.7 In accordance with the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011, any 

increase in the size of the panel as a result of the co-option of elected 

members will be subject to the approval of the Home Secretary. The 

maximum number of members of the panel including co-opted members shall 

not exceed 20.       

2.8 All elected members, including co-optees, of the panel may vote in 

proceedings of the panel.  

 

3 CASUAL VACANCIES 

3.1 A vacancy on the panel arises when a county councillor, a district councillor or 

an independent member resigns from the membership of the panel. 

3.2 Each council will fill vacancies for elected members in accordance with the 

arrangements in their constitution.  Vacancies for co-opted elected members 

and independent members will be filled in accordance with the selection 

processes outlined in sections 2.6 and 4. 

 

4 INDEPENDENT MEMBERS 

4.1 The panel shall co-opt two independent non-elected members onto the panel 

for a term of four years, starting in July 2012. 

4.2 The selection process for co-opting independent members should include a 

reasonable period of advertising for the positions.  A closing date for the 

receipt of applications should be given of at least two weeks from the date the 

advert is first placed. 

4.3 Information packs should be prepared and sent to those requesting 

application forms. 

4.4 The applications will be considered against agreed eligibility criteria and then 

the chairman and vice-chairman of the panel will be invited to meet to 

consider applications and interview candidates. At all times consideration 

should be given to the balanced appointment objective. 

Page 7



4.5 The ‘balanced appointment objective’ referred is the objective that local 

authority members of a police and crime panel (when taken together): 

a) represent the political make-up of the relevant local authorities; 
b) represent all parts of the relevant police area; 
c) have the skills, knowledge and experience necessary for the police 

and crime panel to discharge its functions effectively. 

4.6 Following the interviews, the chairman and vice-chairman will make 

recommendations to the panel about membership for the panel to confirm.  

4.7 Independent members may vote in all proceedings of the panel. 

 

5  REMOVAL OF MEMBERS 

5.1 An Authority may decide in accordance with their procedures to remove their 

appointed member from the panel at any point and on doing so shall give 

notice to the Chief Executive of Gloucestershire County Council as host 

authority. 

5.2 An appointed member may resign from the panel by giving written notice to 

the Chief Executive of Gloucestershire County Council as host authority and 

the Authority they represent on the panel.  

5.3 In the event that any appointed member resigns from the panel, or is removed 

from the panel by an Authority, the Authority shall immediately take steps to 

nominate and appoint an alternative member to the panel. The validity of the 

proceedings of the panel is not affected by a vacancy in the membership. 

 

6. ALLOWANCES 

Allowances will be assessed by the Independent Remuneration Panel at 

Gloucestershire County Council. 

 

 

 

Page 8



 

GLOUCESTERSHIRE POLICE AND CRIME PANEL 

PROCEDURE RULES 

 

1 CHAIRMAN OF THE POLICE AND CRIME PANEL 

1.1 The chairman of the Police and Crime Panel will be appointed by the panel 

members in July of each year and will be drawn from amongst the 

councillors sitting on the panel.  

1.2 The vice-chairman will be appointed in July of each year and will be drawn 

from amongst the councillors sitting on the panel.  

1.3 In the event of the resignation of the chairman or removal of chairman, a 

new chairman will be appointed at the next meeting and will be drawn from 

amongst the councillors sitting on the panel.  

 

2 MEETINGS OF THE POLICE AND CRIME PANEL 

2.1 There shall be a minimum of four ordinary meetings of the Police and 

Crime Panel held in public in each municipal year to carry out the functions 

of the panel. In addition, extraordinary meetings may be called from time to 

time.  

2.2 An extraordinary meeting may be called by the chairman, by four members 

of the panel or by the Monitoring Officer of the Police and Crime 

Commissioner. 

 

3 INDEPENDENT MEMBERS 

3.1 The panel shall co-opt two independent non-elected members onto the 

panel for a term of four years, starting in July 2012. 

3.2 The selection process for co-opting independent members should include a 

reasonable period of advertising for the positions.  A closing date for the 

receipt of applications should be given of at least two weeks from the date 

the advert is first placed. 

3.3 Information packs should be prepared and sent to those requesting 

application forms. 

3.4 The applications will be considered against agreed eligibility criteria and 

then the chairman and vice-chairman of the panel will be invited to meet to 

Page 9



 

consider applications and interview candidates. At all times consideration 

should be given to the balanced appointment objective. 

3.5 The ‘balanced appointment objective’ referred is the objective that local 

authority members of a police and crime panel (when taken together): 

a) represent the political make-up of the relevant local authorities; 
b) represent all parts of the relevant police area; 
c) have the skills, knowledge and experience necessary for the police 

and crime panel to discharge its functions effectively. 

3.6 Following the interviews, the chairman and vice-chairman will make 

recommendations to the panel about membership for the panel to confirm.  

3.7 Independent members may vote in all proceedings of the panel. 

 

4  REMOVAL OF MEMBERS 

4.1 An Authority may decide in accordance with their procedures to remove 

their appointed member from the panel at any point and on doing so shall 

give notice to the Chief Executive of Gloucestershire County Council as 

host authority. 

4.2 An appointed member may resign from the panel by giving written notice to 

the Chief Executive of Gloucestershire County Council as host authority 

and the Authority they represent on the panel.  

4.3 In the event that any appointed member resigns from the panel, or is 

removed from the panel by an Authority, the Authority shall immediately 

take steps to nominate and appoint an alternative member to the panel. 

The validity of the proceedings of the panel is not affected by a vacancy in 

the membership. 

4.4 The Panel may decide to terminate the appointment of a co-opted 

independent non-elected member if at least two-thirds of the persons who 

are members of the panel at the time are in favour of making the decision 

for any of the reasons set out below: 

a) The member has been absent from the Panel for more than three 

months without the consent of the Panel 

b) If the member is deemed to be incapacitated by physical or mental 

illness or is otherwise unable or unfit to discharge his or her 

functions as a co-opted member of the panel 

Page 10



 

c) If the member is found to be no longer eligible to hold the position 

in line with the requirements of the Police Reform and Social 

Responsibility Act 2011 

d) The member is found to be failing in his or her duties and 

responsibilities on the panel.  

e) If a member fails to act in accordance with the Gloucestershire 

County Council Members’ Code of Conduct. 

Written notice should be given to the member detailing the reasons for 

termination. 

 

5 QUORUM 

 A meeting of the Police and Crime Panel cannot take place unless at least 

one third of the whole number of its members is present.  

 

6 WORK PROGRAMME 

6.1 The Police and Crime Panel will be responsible for setting its own work 

programme taking into account the priorities defined by the Police and 

Crime Commissioner. In setting the work programme, the Police and Crime 

Panel will also take into account the wishes of its members. 

6.2 The work programme must include the functions described in the terms of 

reference for the panel.  

 

7 AGENDA ITEMS 

 Any member of the Police and Crime Panel shall be entitled to give notice 

to the Chief Executive of Gloucestershire County Council that he or she 

wishes an item relevant to the functions of the panel to be included on the 

agenda for the next available meeting.  

 

 

 

 

 

Page 11



 

8 REPORTS FROM POLICE AND CRIME PANEL 

8.1 Where the Police and Crime Panel make a report to the Police and Crime 

Commissioner, it may publish the report or recommendations. 

8.2 The Police and Crime Panel must by notice in writing require the Police and 

Crime Commissioner within one month of the date on which he receives the 

report or recommendations to 

a) Consider the report or recommendations. 

b) Respond to the Police and Crime Panel indicating what (if 

any) action the Police and Crime Commissioner proposes to 

take. 

c) Where the Police and Crime Panel has published the report or 

recommendations, publish the response. 

d) Where the Police and Crime Panel has provided a copy of the 

report or recommendations to a member, provide a copy of 

the response to the member of any local authority within the 

police force area. 

8.3 The publication of reports or recommendations is subject to the exclusion of 

any exempt or confidential information as defined in the rules on access to 

information in the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended). 

8.4 If the Police and Crime Panel cannot unanimously agree on one single final 

report to the Police and Crime Commissioner then one separate report may 

be prepared and submitted for consideration along with the majority report.  

 

9 POLICE AND CRIME COMMISSIONER AND OFFICERS GIVING 

ACCOUNT 

9.1 The Police and Crime Panel may scrutinise and review decisions made or 

actions taken in connection with the Police and Crime Commissioner’s role. 

As well as reviewing documentation, in fulfilling its scrutiny role it may 

require the Police and Crime Commissioner, and members of that 

commissioner’s staff, to attend before the panel (at reasonable notice) to 

answer any questions which appear to the panel to be necessary in order 

to carry out its functions. 

9.2 Where the Police and Crime Commissioner, or a member of that 

commissioner’s staff, is required to attend the panel under this provision the 

chairman will inform them in writing giving, where practical, 15 days notice 

of the meeting. The notice will state the nature of the item on which he or 

Page 12



 

she is required to attend to give account and whether any papers are 

required for production for the panel. Where it is necessary to produce a 

report, sufficient time will be given to allow preparation of that report. 

9.3 Where, in exceptional circumstances, the Police and Crime Commissioner 

is unable to attend on the required date, then an alternative date for 

attendance may be arranged following consultation with the chairman of the 

panel. 

9.4 If the Police and Crime Panel require the Police and Crime Commissioner 

to attend before the panel, the panel may (at reasonable notice) request the 

Chief Constable to attend before the panel on the same occasion to answer 

any questions which appears to the panel to be necessary in order for it to 

carry out its functions.  

 

10 ATTENDANCE BY OTHERS 

 The Police and Crime Panel may invite people other than those referred to 

above to address it, discuss issues of local concern and/or answer 

questions.  It may, for example, wish to hear from residents, stakeholders, 

councillors who are not members of the panel and officers in other parts of 

the public sector and may invite such people to attend.   

 

11 SUB-COMMITTEES AND TASK GROUPS 

11.1 Time limited task groups may be established from time to time by the Police 

and Crime Panel to undertake specific task based work. 

11.2 The special functions of the Police and Crime Panel may not be discharged 

by a sub-committee of the panel or a task group. 

11.3 In this paragraph ‘special functions’ means the functions conferred on a 

Police and Crime Panel by  

a) Section 28(3) of Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 

(scrutiny of Police and Crime Plan). 

b) Section 28 (4) of Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 

(scrutiny of annual report). 

c) Paragraphs 10 and 11 of Schedule 1 of Police Reform and 

Social Responsibility Act (review of senior appointments). 

d) Schedule 5 of Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 

(issuing precepts). 

Page 13



 

e) Part 1 of Schedule 8 of Police Reform and Social Responsibility 

Act (scrutiny of appointment of the Chief Constable). 

11.4 The work undertaken by a sub-committee or task group will be scoped and 

defined beforehand, together with the timeframe within which the work is to 

be completed and the reporting time for the outcome of the work. 

 

12 CARRYING OUT ‘SPECIAL FUNCTIONS’  

 Reports and recommendations made in relation to the functions outlined in 

the terms of reference will be carried out in accordance with the procedure 

outlined at paragraph 9 of the procedure rules. 

12.1 Police and Crime Plan 

12.1.1 Before issuing or varying a police and crime plan, a police and crime 

commissioner must send a draft of the plan or variation to the Police and 

Crime Panel.  

12.1.2 The panel must review the draft police and crime plan or draft variation and 

make a report or recommendations.  

12.1.2 The Commissioner must have regards to any report or recommendations 

made by the panel in relation to the draft plan or variation. 

12.1.3 The Commissioner must give the panel a response to any such report or 

recommendations and publish any such response.  

12.2 Annual Report 

12.2.1 Each elected local policing body (commissioner’s office) must produce a 

report (annual report) on the exercise of the body’s functions in each 

financial year and the progress which has been made in the financial year 

in meeting the police and crime objectives in the police and crime plan. 

12.2.2 The panel must arrange for a public meeting of the panel to be held as 

soon as practicable after the panel is sent an annual report from the 

Commissioner’s office.  

12.2.3 The elected local policing body must attend before the panel at a public 

meeting arranged by the panel to present the report and answer the panel’s 

questions on the report. 

12.2.4 The panel is to review the annual report and make a report or 

recommendations on the annual report to the commissioner.  

Page 14



 

12.2.5 The elected local policing body must give the panel a response to any 

report or recommendations on the annual report and publish any such 

response. 

12.3 Senior appointments 

12.3.1 The panel is required by the Act to review the Police and Crime 

Commissioner’s proposed appointments of Chief Constable, Chief 

Executive, Chief Finance Officer and Deputy Police and Crime 

Commissioner. The panel is required to hold confirmation hearings in public 

for these posts.  

12.3.2 The panel will be notified of the need for a confirmatory hearing in respect 

of proposed senior appointments made by the Police and Crime 

Commissioner.  The panel must review the proposed senior appointment, 

make a report and include a recommendation as to whether or not the 

candidate should be appointed.  

12.3.3 The panel is required to report on senior appointments within a period of 

three weeks, beginning with the day on which the panel receives the 

notification from the commissioner of the proposed senior appointment.  

12.3.4 In calculating the period of three weeks any relevant post-election period is 

ignored. This begins with the day of the poll at an ordinary election of the 

Police and Crime Commissioner and ends with the day on which the 

person elected as commissioner delivers a declaration of acceptance of 

office. 

12.3.5 Confirmatory hearings will be held in public, where the candidate is 

requested to appear for the purpose of answering questions relating to the 

appointment. Following this hearing, the panel is required to review the 

proposed appointment and make a report to the commissioner on the 

appointment. 

12.4 Appointment of Chief Constable 

12.4.1 For a confirmatory hearing for the proposed appointment of the Chief 

Constable, in addition to the requirement to review and report, the panel 

has the requirement to publish the report and make a recommendation on 

the appointment and the power to veto the appointment.  

12.4.2 Having considered the appointment, the panel will be asked to either: 

a) support the appointment without qualification or comment; 

b) support the appointment with associated recommendations, 

or 

Page 15



 

c) veto the appointment of the Chief Constable (by the required 

majority of at least two thirds of the persons who are 

members of the panel at the time when the decision is made). 

12.4.3 If the panel vetoes the appointment of the candidate, the report to the 

commissioner must include a statement that the panel has vetoed the 

appointment with reasons. 

12.4.4 Where the panel exercises the power to veto the proposed appointment, 

the commissioner shall propose another person for appointment as chief 

constable (a reserve candidate). 

12.4.5  The commissioner proposes a reserve candidate by notifying the panel of 

the following information: 

a) The name of the reserve candidate 

b) The criteria used to assess the suitability of the reserve 

candidate for the appointment 

c) Why the reserve candidate satisfies those criteria 

d) The terms of conditions on which the reserve candidate is 

appointed 

12.4.6  Within the period of three weeks, beginning on the day on which the panel 

receives notification of the proposal of the reserve candidate, the panel 

shall: 

a) Review the proposed appointment 

b) Make a report to the police and crime commissioner on the 

proposed appointment 

The report must include a recommendation to the commissioner on 

whether or not the reserve candidate should be appointed. 

12.4.7  The commissioner should have regard for the report detailed at 12.4.6(b), 

and notify the panel of his decision as to whether he accepts or rejects the 

recommendation.  

12.4.8 The police and crime commissioner may then appoint the reserve 

candidate as chief constable or propose another person for appointment as 

chief constable (who would then be treated as a reserve candidate as at 

12.4.6).  

 

 

Page 16



 

12.5 Suspension and removal of the Chief Constable 

12.5.1 If the Police and Crime Commissioner suspends the Chief Constable the 

panel must be notified.   

12.5.2 The panel must be given written notification if the commissioner is 

proposing to call upon the Chief Constable to retire or resign. In addition, 

the panel must be provided with a copy of the reasons given to the Chief 

Constable for the proposal. 

12.5.3 The panel will consider any representations made by the Chief Constable 

as soon as practicable after the commissioner has provided the panel with 

them. 

12.5.4 The panel must make a recommendation to the Police and Crime 

Commissioner as to whether or not the commissioner should call for 

retirement or resignation.  

12.5.5 The recommendation must be given to the Police and Crime Commissioner 

in writing before the end of the period of six weeks, beginning with the day 

on which the panel receives the written notification of the commissioner’s 

proposal. 

12.5.6 In calculating the period of six weeks any relevant post-election period is 

ignored. This begins with the day of the poll at an ordinary election of the 

Police and Crime Commissioner and ends with the day on which the 

person elected as commissioner delivers a declaration of acceptance of 

office. 

12.5.7 Before making the recommendation, the panel may consult with the Chief 

Inspector of Constabulary and must hold a scrutiny hearing in private. The 

Police and Crime Commissioner and the Chief Constable are both entitled 

to attend.  

12.5.8 The recommendation must be published and the Police and Crime 

Commissioner must consider the recommendation and notify the panel as 

to whether or not it has been accepted.  

 

12.6 Appointment of an Acting Police and Crime Commissioner 

12.6.1 The Police and Crime Panel must appoint a person to act as Police and 

Crime Commissioner if: 

a) no person holds the office of Police and Crime Commissioner 

b) the Police and Crime Commissioner is incapacitated, or 

Page 17



 

c) the Police and Crime Commissioner is suspended. 

12.6.2 The Police and Crime Panel may appoint a person as acting commissioner 

only if the person is a member of the Police and Crime Commissioner’s 

staff at the time of the appointment. 

 

12.6.3 In appointing a person as acting commissioner in a case where the Police 

and Crime Commissioner is incapacitated, the Police and Crime Panel 

must have regard to any representations made by the commissioner in 

relation to the appointment. 

 

12.6.4 The appointment of an acting commissioner ceases to have effect upon the 

occurrence of the earliest of these events: 

 

a) the election of a person as Police and Crime Commissioner; 

 

b) the termination by the Police and Crime Panel, or by the acting 

commissioner, of the appointment of the acting commissioner; 

 

c) in a case where the acting commissioner is appointed because 

the Police and Crime Commissioner is incapacitated, the 

commissioner ceasing to be incapacitated, or 

 

d) in a case where the acting commissioner is appointed because 

the Police and Crime Commissioner is suspended, the 

commissioner ceasing to be suspended. 

 

 

12.7 Proposed precept 

12.7.1 The Police and Crime Commissioner will notify the Police and Crime Panel 

by 31 January of the relevant financial year of the precept which the 

commissioner is proposing to issue for the financial year. The panel must 

review the proposed precept by 8 February of the relevant financial year 

and make a report including recommendations. 

12.7.2 Having considered the precept, the Police and Crime Panel will either: 

a) support the precept without qualification or comment; 

b) support the precept and make recommendations, or 

c) veto the proposed precept (by the required majority of at least 

two thirds of the persons who are members of the panel at the 

time when the decision is made). 

Page 18



 

12.7.3 If the panel vetoes the proposed precept, the report to the commissioner 

must include a statement that the panel has vetoed the proposed precept 

with reasons.  The panel will require a response to the report and any such 

recommendations. 

12.7.4 Where the panel exercises the power of veto, the Police and Crime 

Commissioner shall, by 15 February of the relevant financial year, notify the 

Police and Crime Panel of the precept he/she now proposes to issue 

subject to the following: 

a) Where the panel report indicates that the panel vetoes the 

proposed precept because it is too high, the revised precept 

shall be lower than the proposed precept; 

b) Where the panel report indicates that the panel vetoes the 

proposed precept because it is too low, the revised precept shall 

be higher than the proposed precept.  

12.7.5 On receiving a response containing notification of a revised precept under 

the regulation the panel shall, by 22 February of the relevant financial year: 

a) Review the revised precept 

b) Make a report (second report) to the commissioner on the 

revised precept 

12.7.6  The commissioner shall, by 1 March of the relevant financial year, have 

regard to the ‘second report’, give the panel a response and publish the 

response.  

12.7.7 The commissioner may then issue the revised precept for the financial year 

or issue a different precept still subject to the requirements noted at 12.7.4. 

 

12.8 Complaints 

12.8.1 Non-criminal complaints in relation to the Police and Crime Commissioner 

or other office holders can be considered by the Police and Crime Panel 

through a hearing.  The panel can examine this through a sub-committee 

as provided in the procedure rules at (9). 

12.8.2 A Police and Crime Panel may suspend the Police and Crime 

Commissioner if it appears to the panel that 

a)  the commissioner has been charged in the United Kingdom, 

the Channel Islands or the Isle of Man with an offence, and 

Page 19



 

b)  the offence is one which carries a maximum term of 

imprisonment exceeding two years. 

12.8.3 The suspension of the Police and Crime Commissioner ceases to have 

effect upon the occurrence of the earliest of these events: 

 

a)  the charge being dropped; 

 

b)  the Police and Crime Commissioner being acquitted of the 

offence; 

 

c)  the Police and Crime Commissioner being convicted of the 

offence but not being disqualified under Section 66 of the 

Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act by virtue of the 

conviction, or 

 

d)  the termination of the suspension by the Police and Crime 

Panel. 

 

12.8.4 In this paragraph references to an offence which carries a maximum term 

of imprisonment exceeding two years are references to: 

 

a)  an offence which carries such a maximum term in the case of 

a person who has attained the age of 18 years, or 

 

b) an offence for which, in the case of such a person, the 

sentence is fixed by law as life imprisonment. 

 

Page 20



 
DRAFT 

DRAFT 

 
 
 
 
 
Cllr Mark Hawthorne 
Gloucestershire County Council 
Shire Hall 
Westgate Street 
Gloucester  GL1 2TG 
 
 

Please ask for:  Mr. Paul Trott 
Our Ref:  OPCC 2018-16 
Your Ref:            
Direct Dial:  (01452) 752273 
Email: paultrott@gloucestershire.police.uk 
Date:                              

 
 
Dear Mark, 
 
Police Funding  
 
Thank you for your letter of 23 May 2018 which unfortunately I did not receive until 21 June.  As 
previously indicated, it is my view that under the Policing Protocol (The Policing Protocol Order 
2011) it is for the Panel to scrutinise the PCC's exercise of his statutory functions which includes 
the legal power to require relevant reports and information in the PCC's possession and for the 
PCC to attend the Panel to answer questions.  Such powers are also set out in the Police Reform 
and Social Responsibility Act 2011.  It therefore appears to me, with due respect to you and the 
County Council, that the questions posed in your letter ought more properly to have been raised 
via the Police and Crime Panel. Equally it would be discourteous of me to provide the information 
requested to the County Council without providing the same information to those members of the 
Panel who are not County Councillors. This would result in the County Council appearing to 
scrutinise the PCC, a function that is explicitly the role of the Panel. 
  
You will probably be aware that I have therefore decided to share a draft of this letter with the 
Police and Crime Panel at their meeting on 13 July to ensure that they were aware of your 
questions and my responses and to have the opportunity to explore the issues you have raised in 
further detail. 
 
Having reflected on your letter, I would therefore answer the Council’s questions as follows: 

 
Question 1: If [our] plans within the precept rise (5.6%) still include 30 additional 

officers and staff? 
 

Response: The Budget Paper presented to the Police and Crime Panel on 5 February 2018 
and published on the County Council’s website indicated that if the Council Tax 
precept were increased as proposed by the PCC then the Constabulary would 
be able to invest in 23 additional police officers and 7 additional police staff.  The 
Panel having approved the proposed precept, we understand it remains the 
Constabulary’s intention to recruit those additional officers and staff. 

 
Additional: Please note that this issue was raised and discussed both at the Police and 

Crime Panel on 5 February and at pre-Panel Budget meeting on 11 January 
2018.  Please see section 10 of the budget paper presented at both meetings.   

Page 21

Agenda Item 6

http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=650&MId=8725&Ver=4
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=650&MId=8725&Ver=4


 
DRAFT 

DRAFT 

 
Please also note that the Police and Crime Panel minutes for the 5 February, 
record:  

 
“Some members stated that they could understand the Commissioner choosing 
the option that allowed for additional funding and they stated that they welcomed 
the investment in the areas identified.” (4.10)  

 
“One member stated that the options put forward for investment were good areas 
and he welcomed the way the Commissioner’s Office had come forward with 
this, particularly considering the tight timescales involved. He expressed concern 
at the way in which Central Government had not provided details of funding until 
a late stage.” (4.15) 

 
Question 2:  If [we] are lobbying for 'city status' for our urban area to increase central 

funding and officer numbers? 
 
Response: We have not been asked to lobby for “city status” and do not understand what 

this has to do with Home Office funding for the police.  Gloucester already enjoys 
the status of a city and I am not aware of any bids from the other towns or 
boroughs in the county to change their status. 

 
Question 3:  If nearly 20% of annual expenditure in reserves are necessary? 
 
Response:  The Budget Paper previously referred to explains the PCC’s current reserves.  

During the current financial year a general reserve of £4.955m (equivalent to 
4.5% of net revenue expenditure) will be maintained.  Earmarked reserves at 31 
March 2018 amounted to £16.13m (representing 15% of the budget) which have 
been set aside to meet various known commitments and planned capital 
expenditure full details of which were set out in the Budget Paper. Such reserves 
are therefore considered to be necessary. 

 
Additional:  The budget paper presented to the Police and Crime Panel meeting on 5 

February 2018 contained details of the reserves.  Further information about how 
reserves will be used (the Reserves Strategy) is available via the OPCC website.   

We receive expert advice in relation to all financial matters, including the level of 
reserves from our Chief Finance Officer.  The CFO is of the opinion that the level 
of reserves held by the PCC is not excessive and in line with GCC general 
reserves which are currently 4.5% of budget (GCC policy is to hold general 
reserves between 4% and 6% of budget).  
 
By contrast, the earmarked reserves held by the GCC at 31/03/18 are £138m 
(34% of their budget).  

Overall the PCC’s reserves are 20% of the budget, as stated to the Police and 
Crime Panel on 5 February 2018. We note that the GCC reserves represent 38% 
of its budget. 

Page 22

http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=650&MId=8725&Ver=4
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=650&MId=8725&Ver=4
https://www.gloucestershire-pcc.gov.uk/the-office-that-supports-the-pcc/transparency/finance/reserves-strategy/


 
DRAFT 

DRAFT 

If capital reserves are included (for receipts and grants) total reserves are 26% of 
budget for the PCC.  The equivalent for GCC would be 59%. Please note that in 
2017/18 GCC increased overall its reserves, whilst the PCC reduced his. 

Please also note that in your meeting on 18 May 2018, there was comment 
about £17m capital expenditure over four years which equates to about £4m per 
year (see question four).  
 
The capital spend for the PCC for 2017/18 was £3.75m. Only 21% of this was 
funded by capital grant and the capital grant from the Home Office has reduced 
significantly in recent years. In contrast for 2017/18 GCC had capital expenditure 
of £96m with £59m of that funded by grant (61%). The significant reduction in 
capital grant from the Home Office has meant that the PCC has to rely on 
reserves and the revenue budget to support capital expenditure.  

 
Question 4: If a £17 million spend on estates over the next 4 years is best value for the 

public? 
 
Response:  The PCC has no plans to spend £17m on estates over the next four years.  The 

question is therefore fallacious. 
 
Additional: Estate matters have been included as a specific area of business in the Chief 

Executive’s Report to the Police and Crime Panel on the following occasions: 

 16/03/18  

 05/02/18 

 08/11/17 

 08/09/17 

 14/07/17 

 14/03/17 

 03/02/17 

 07/11/16 

 20/09/16 

 18/07/16 
 

 
The reports to the Panel even include updates and notifications of no activity 
which provides members with an opportunity to scrutinise estate related OPCC 
activity even when there are no new developments to report.   
 
From the list above, estate was mentioned in the following minutes: 

 14/03/17 (9.18)  07/11/16 (37.2)  18/07/16 (17.6) 
 

The lack of comment noted could suggest that the management of estate is not 
an area of any great concern for the Police and Crime Panel and that the update 
reports have been sufficient.   
 
Should more information about the financing of the Estates Strategy be required, 
please refer to the 2018/19 budget paper presented to the Police and Crime 
Panel on 5 February 2018. 

 
Question 5: The Commissioner's fund is a little over £1 million per annum but at 31 

March 2018 had a carry forward of £1.5 million. Is this a good use of public 
money? 

 
Response:  The annual accounts show a carry forward of £1.5m in respect of the 

Commissioner’s Fund because the PCC has made a commitment to support a 
number of projects for more than one year and the figure represents the funding 

Page 23

http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=650&MId=8726&Ver=4
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=650&MId=8725&Ver=4
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=650&MId=8551&Ver=4
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=650&MId=8550&Ver=4
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=650&MId=8549&Ver=4
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=650&MId=8548&Ver=4
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=650&MId=8547&Ver=4
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=650&MId=8099&Ver=4
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=650&MId=8480&Ver=4
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=650&MId=8097&Ver=4
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=650&MId=8548&Ver=4
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=650&MId=8099&Ver=4
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=650&MId=8097&Ver=4
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=650&MId=8725&Ver=4
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=650&MId=8725&Ver=4


 
DRAFT 

DRAFT 

set aside for these projects and the Priorities Fund which is retained to support 
the six priorities in the Police and Crime Plan throughout the period of the Plan 
(2017-2021). 

 
Additional:  In 2016, the OPCC commissioned a review of the Commissioner’s Fund which 

was carried out by City Forum.  Below are extracts from their final report The 
Commissioner’s Fund – An evaluation 

 
 Page 11  

The fund was set up with money from police reserves at a time when funding for 
community projects was being drastically cut by local authorities, central 
government and national charitable organisations.  Without the fund many 
community projects, providing essential services to vulnerable individuals, would 
have stopped. 
 
In HMIC’s … PEEL inspection on police efficiency, it is worth noting that 
Gloucestershire Constabulary was not only awarded ‘outstanding’ under 
sustainability of the force’s financial position over the short and long term, but 
notably the Chief Constable and PCC were also commended for their innovative, 
forward-thinking approach to partnership working and in providing support to 
community projects with the objective of reducing demand. 
 
Page 21 
Nearly all the projects supported by the Fund use volunteers in delivering their 
services to the community…who give their time to make Gloucestershire a safer, 
better place to live. 
 
From only 47 [of the] projects, a total of 72,489 volunteer hours have been 
harnessed.  The economic value of this can be equated to approximately 
£901,038, using a median hourly earning rate of £12.43 per hour from the ONS 
annual survey of hours and earnings.  If the data was available from all the 
projects, the figure would be significantly higher. 
 
Page 22 
The potential return-on-investment from using volunteers to support the 
delivering of appropriate policing services is considerable, not only in reducing 
demand on police time, but in providing a better service for the community. 
 

 A further evaluation of the Fund will be carried out in the next 12 months.   
 
The iESE Public Service Transformation Awards celebrates the best in local 
public services.  Awards are given for those transformations in public services 
that can demonstrate true innovation and have delivered the biggest 
improvement for the lives of residents and local businesses.   
 
As reported to the Police and Crime Panel in the Chief Executive’s report on 16 
March 2018, the Commissioner’s Fund received the gold award and was named 
Police Service of the Year 2018.  The OPCC also received a bronze award in the 
section for community engagement.  The iESE Awards are open to any public 

Page 24

https://www.cityforum.co.uk/
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=650&MId=8726&Ver=4


 
DRAFT 

DRAFT 

body in the UK and their partners in the voluntary, community and private sector. 
There were more than 600 nominations in 10 categories.    
 

Question 6: Is £300,000 spent on police horses a necessary cost? 
 
Response: The arguments for and against expenditure on Gloucestershire Constabulary’s 

police horses have been discussed by the Panel on 11 March 2016, 3 February 
2017, 14 July 2017 and 18 December 2017 and I would respectfully refer you to 
the minutes of those meetings. 

 
Additional:  The cost of £300k includes the cost of police officers. The budget for staff and 

non-pay costs is £150k. The police officers in the mounted section are part of the 
agreed budget establishment. The officers have been transferred to this section 
and there has been no growth in officer numbers. The additional costs to the 
organisation are therefore £150k per year, and not £300k per year. The trial 
showed there are significant benefits from having a mounted section. 

 
Discussion about the mounted section at the Police and Crime Panel can be 
found in the following papers: 

 18/12/17: CC Confirmatory 
Hearing printed minutes (38.12) 

 14/07/17: Printed minutes (20.2, 
20.3) 

 03/02/17: Medium Term Financial 
Strategy 2017/18 (11.7) and 
Printed minutes (5.14) 

 11/03/16: Chief Executive’s 
Report: 5 Mounted Capability trial 
(5.1, 5.2, 5.3) and Printed minutes 
(8.4)  

 
In addition to the discussions listed above, the OPCC have facilitated meetings 
with Councillor Patrick (member of the Police and Crime Panel) with the Project 
Lead for the Mounted Section in September 2017.  This followed the provision of 
requested data in relation to costs associated with the Mounted Section 
requested by Cllr Patrick.  It is not clear whether any formal feedback was 
provided to the Panel by Cllr Patrick.  

 
Chief Constable Hansen was also asked to attend the Panel meeting in February 
2018 to allow Panel Members to question the Chief Constable directly about the 
Mounted Section following statements made in the press by the Panel Chair.  No 
questions or issues were raised. 
 
A summary of the research findings underpinning the mounted trial can be found 
here if required.  This research shows that the primary value of mounted police 
lies in their work at neighbourhood level and in support of Neighbourhood 
Policing.  In addition though, mounted police increase visibility and generate 
substantially higher levels of engagement with members of the public than 
equivalent levels of foot patrol. On top of this value, they also offer the ability to 
provide heightened response to crowd situations, and can intervene in disorderly 
crowds in ways that generate compliance more quickly than other options such 
as police on foot or in vehicles. 

 
 

Page 25

http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=650&MId=8095&Ver=4
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=650&MId=8547&Ver=4
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=650&MId=8547&Ver=4
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=650&MId=8549&Ver=4
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=650&MId=8948&Ver=4
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=650&MId=8948&Ver=4
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=650&MId=8549&Ver=4
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=650&MId=8547&Ver=4
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=650&MId=8095&Ver=4
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=650&MId=8725&Ver=4
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=650&MId=8725&Ver=4
https://www.rand.org/pubs/research_reports/RR830z1.readonline.html


 
DRAFT 

DRAFT 

 
 

Question 7:  Is the new cost of £45,000 per annum from appointing a Deputy Police and 
Crime Commissioner appropriate? 

 
Response: The Commissioner’s appointment of a Deputy was confirmed by the Panel on 9 

September 2016. It is not therefore a “new cost”.  His appointment was in 
accordance with the relevant legislation and his salary was determined by 
reference to similar appointments in other areas. 

 
Additional:  Please note that following the DPCC’s confirmation hearing on 9 September 

2016, following debate, the minutes recorded that: 
 

Some members expressed their view that a Deputy role would be a good thing 
and that they welcomed the appointment. (21.20) 
 
Please also note that at the Police and Crime Panel on 5 February 2018, the 
DPCC provided detail of his role and recent activity.  This prompted no debate or 
further questions.   
 
Analysis of Deputy Police and Crime Commissioner salaries from across the UK 
shows that the average wage for a DPCC is £52,888.96 p/a.  This is based on 
information available relating to 24 previous and current DPCCs.  The average 
salary for DPCCs is therefore £7,888.96 higher than that received by Mr Brierley. 
 

Question 8:  What is the Chief Constable's plan to address the rise in crime? 
 
Response:  This question is too vague to be satisfactorily answered.  The Chief Constable’s 

plan for addressing any increase is in any event a matter for the Chief Constable, 
not this office. 

 
Additional:  The Chief Constable commissions a Strategic Overview of Recorded Crime 

which identifies the risk areas for the Constabulary and places crime trends in 
context both nationally and locally.  The document is not for wider publication 
due to the sensitivity of information contained within it but is available to the 
OPCC for Holding to Account purposes.   

 
Topic areas within the document include: 

 Acquisitive Crime  
o Theft  
o Vehicle Offences  
o Burglary  
o Robbery  

 Violent Crime  
o Violent Crime Summary  
o Violence without Injury  
o Knife crime  
o Stalking & Harassment  
o Firearms  
o County Lines  

o Modern Day Slavery and 
Human Trafficking  

 Sexual Offences  
o Sexual Offences Summary  
o Child Sexual Exploitation  

 Other 
o OCGs  
o Fraud  
o MISPERs  
o Domestic Abuse  
o Public Order Offences  

 

Page 26

http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=650&MId=8550&Ver=4
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=650&MId=8550&Ver=4
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=650&MId=8098&Ver=4
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=650&MId=8098&Ver=4
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=650&MId=8725&Ver=4


 
DRAFT 

DRAFT 

 
For each risk area, the Constabulary Leads will develop plans and operational 
orders.  Requests for further information would have to be made directly to the 
Chief Constable. 

 
Question 9:  How much was spent on the Commissioner's plan to take over the fire and 

rescue service? 
 
Response:  The outcome of the work undertaken by consultants who were engaged to 

assess the benefits or otherwise of the transfer of the oversight of the Fire and 
Rescue Service from the Council to the Commissioner was presented to the 
Panel at its meeting on 8 September 2017 when a discussion took place 
concerning the consultants’ report and the Commissioner’s subsequent decision 
not to seek a change in governance of the Service.  The total cost of the work 
undertaken was £141,000 of which £93,000 was met by a grant from the Home 
Office. 

 
Additional:  The Policing and Crime Act 2017 places a responsibility on Police and Crime 

Commissioners to explore the case for a change in Fire & Rescue governance in 
their areas.  It does not talk about PCC’s ‘taking over’ F&R services.  This 
narrative is misleading and not representative of the facts.   

 
Any case for change should be based on the following factors: 

 Economy 

 Efficiency 

 Effectiveness 

 Public safety  
 

Under all four headings, the analysis in Gloucestershire showed benefits could 
be realised should there be a change in governance.  At the time the analysis 
was published however, the PCC decided that due to the political hostility 
primarily from GCC, it was in the public interest to pause further exploration into 
governance change and to try to enhance collaboration via other means.  

 
The Home Office made it very clear to PCCs that there was an expectation for 
Commissioners to lead this agenda.  As such, funding was made available for 
OPCCs to commission the necessary analysis.  Gloucestershire, along with 
seven other areas was in receipt of this funding.  Those other areas were: 

 Cambridgeshire* 

 Essex* 

 Hertfordshire  

 Northamptonshire* 

 North Yorkshire* 

 Staffordshire * 

 Sussex 
 

 
* The areas indicated have proceeded with and achieved a change in 
governance.  In addition to the list above the PCCs for West Mercia, Suffolk, 
Surrey, Hampshire and Lancashire have also developed business cases using 
their own funds. 

 
Commissioning of the research in Gloucestershire was carried out by the South 
West Police Procurement Department (SWPPD).  Ideally, the analysis would 
have been carried out in conjunction with GCC as the report could have been 
supportive of the current governance arrangements.  This would have 

Page 27



 
DRAFT 

DRAFT 

undoubtedly been achieved at a lower cost than £166k (£141k for the OPCC and 
£25k for the GCC research).   
 
The fire governance agenda was also regularly reported at the Police and Crime 
Panel via the Chief Executive’s report (03/02/18 section 5, 14/03/17 section 6, 
14/07/17 section 5, 08/09/17 section 7, 08/11/18 section 8).  

 
 

I trust this answers the Council’s questions. 
 
Yours sincerely, 
 
 
 
Paul D. Trott, Solicitor 
Chief Executive 
 

Page 28

http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=650&MId=8547&Ver=4
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=650&MId=8548&Ver=4
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/mgChooseDocPack.aspx?ID=8549
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/mgChooseDocPack.aspx?ID=8550
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=650&MId=8551&Ver=4


Page 29



Page 30



Gloucestershire Police and Crime Panel 
13th July 2018 
 
 
 
Report of the Chief Executive 
 
This is my report to the Police and Crime Panel on the activities of the Police and Crime 
Commissioner’s Office. It is intended to assist the Panel in reviewing and scrutinising decisions 
made and actions taken by the Commissioner, in accordance with its statutory responsibilities. 
 
 
1 Decisions 
 
1.1 The complete decision log may be viewed on the OPCC’s website here.   

 
1.2 A summary of decisions for January and February 2018 was provided to the Panel in 

March.  Table 1 below covers the period March – June 2018.   
 

Table 1: Summary of decisions recorded by the OPCC in March - June 2018 

Month Reference  Subject Matter Decision 

03/18 D06-2018 Creation of 
Independent Appeals 
Officer Post 

To create and advertise the post of Independent 
Appeals Officer. 

03/18 DO7-2018 Sale of Land at Cleeve 
Business Park, 
Bishop's Cleeve, 
Cheltenham 

To approve the sale of the land on the basis set 
out in the Heads of Terms. 

03/18 D08-2018 Gloucestershire 
Constabulary Gender 
Pay Gap Report 2016-
17 

For information only, paper presented and 
approved at MEB (part 2) on 15th March 2018. 

03/18 D09-2018 Constabulary on 
boarding to the Single 
Online Home (SOH) 

The PCC supports in principle the Constabulary’s 
intention to request that we join the SOH, subject 
to the questions we have being answered 
satisfactorily by the DPC and that we understand 
any risks and impacts. 

03/18 D10-2018 Enterprise Resource 
Planning (ERP) 

To move to a final business case that will look at 
the three main options in further detail and put 
forward a preferred recommendation. It is also 
recommended that future resource are noted and 
planned for to enable the effective delivery of an 
ERP solution. 

03/11 D11-2018 Head of People 
Services and 
Workforce 
Development Head of 
Digital and Data 
Services 

That the report is noted, that the Constabulary will 
recruit to the following two roles on fixed term 
contracts, up to 18 months:  

 Head of People Services and Workforce 
Development  

 Head of Digital and Data Services 

03/18 D12-2018 This decision  was deemed not to be of significant public interest and 
therefore will not be published 

03/18 D13-2008 Corporate Governance 
Framework 

That the PCC and the Chief Constable approve 
the revised Joint Corporate Governance 
Framework. 

04/18 D14-2018 Prudential Indicators 
and Treasury 
Management Strategy 
– 2018/19 to 2020/21 

To approve the Prudential Indicators and the 
Treasury Management Strategy set out in the 
attached report. To note that a review will be 
carried out during the year, with the treasury 
management consultants. 
 

Page 31

Agenda Item 7

https://www.gloucestershire-pcc.gov.uk/the-office-that-supports-the-pcc/transparency/reports/decisions/
https://www.gloucestershire-pcc.gov.uk/media/3885/decision-06-2018-independent-appeals-officer.pdf
https://www.gloucestershire-pcc.gov.uk/media/3886/decision-07-2018-sale-of-land-at-bishops-cleeve.pdf
https://www.gloucestershire-pcc.gov.uk/media/3887/decision-08-2018-gender-pay-gap.pdf
https://www.gloucestershire-pcc.gov.uk/media/3888/decision-09-2018-single-online-home.pdf
https://www.gloucestershire-pcc.gov.uk/media/3889/decision-10-2018-enterprise-resource-planning-erp.pdf
https://www.gloucestershire-pcc.gov.uk/media/3890/decision-11-2018-head-of-people-services-and-workforce-development-and-head-of-digital-and-data-services.pdf
https://www.gloucestershire-pcc.gov.uk/media/3926/decision-13-2018-corporate-governance-framework.pdf
https://www.gloucestershire-pcc.gov.uk/media/3891/decision-14-2018-prudential-indicators-and-treasury-management-strategy-2018-19-to-2020-21.pdf


Table 1: Summary of decisions recorded by the OPCC in March - June 2018 

Month Reference  Subject Matter Decision 

 

04/18 D15-2018 Performance 
Dashboards – 
Progress Update 

The use of SAS for the future development of 
performance dashboards is endorsed by senior 
leaders and the OPCC. 

04/18 D16-2018 This decision will not be published due to commercial sensitivity.   

04/18 D17-2018 Spit and Bite Guard 
Pilot in Custody 

For the Police and Crime Commissioner to review 
the outcomes of the Spit and Bite Guard Custody 
Pilot and approve the paper for noting. 

 
1.3 Please note that there was no meeting in May due to leave and decisions from June have 

not yet been published. 
 
2 Freedom of Information Act and complaints (01 January – 30 June 2018) 
 
2.1 In the six month period up to the end of June 2018, the OPCC has received 24 Freedom of 

Information (FOI) requests.  This compares to 16 in the same period last year (50% 
increase). 
  

 
 

2.2 Of the FOI requests made to the OPCC during this period, 8 were redirected to the 
Constabulary (as the request related to information held by the Force), 1 required a joint 
OPCC/Constabulary response and 15 were for OPCC held information.  In all, a total of 53 
questions have been asked requiring an OPCC response.  
  

2.3 The chart below provides an overview of FOI applicants by type:  
 

 
 

Page 32

https://www.gloucestershire-pcc.gov.uk/media/3892/decision-15-2018-performance-dashboards-progress-update.pdf
https://www.gloucestershire-pcc.gov.uk/media/3893/decision-17-2018-spit-and-bite-guard-pilot-in-custody.pdf


 
2.4 147 complaints were made to the OPCC in the period January to June 2018 from members 

of the public.  This represents a 19.5 % increase (24) compared to the same period in 2017.   
 

 
 

 
 

2.5 The chart above shows the greatest number of complaints were received from residents 
from Gloucester (22%), followed by Cheltenham (18%).     
  

2.6 Table 2 below outlines complaint types by area from January to June 2018 (excluding those 
from outside of the area or unknown).  Complaints received by the OPCC are broadly 
categorised and include a wide range of issues to facilitate analysis for this report.   

 
Table 2: Complaints received by the OPCC by area and type from Jan-June 2018 

Complaint 
Type 

Chelt. Cots. FoD Gloucester Stroud Tewkes. Glos. Total  

ASB report 9 2 1 14 2 1 1 30 

Crime report 3 0 2 0 2 1 2 10 

Road safety 
issue 

0 2 2 3 2 3 0 12 

Police 
service / 
presence 

13 3 2 14 3 4 9 48 

OPCC 
complaint 

1 0 0 2 1 1 2 7 

Other 1 0 0 0 1 0 9 11 

Page 33



 
2.7 Table 2 shows that the greatest number of complaints received by the OPCC are 

categorised as police service / presence followed by reports of anti-social behaviour and 
road safety issues.  The OPCC complaints relate to dissatisfaction with the precept 
increase earlier this year.   
 

3 Crime data 
 
3.1 The OPCC is able to compare national and local crime rates via various Home Office 

performance management tools.  Unfortunately, due to the conditions of use we are unable 
to share the full content publicly but the table below provides information about how 
Gloucestershire is performing when compared to the national picture.  The data we are 
using refers to the British Crime Survey (BCS) Comparator Crimes and were chosen 
because they represented those crimes that (according to the Crime Survey) caused the 
most amount of harm to communities. The most recent data available is up to the end of 
April 2018. 
 

3.2 Table 3 below shows that BCS crime rates in Gloucestershire are falling whereas the same 
crime types are increasing in those areas deemed most demographically similar (Most 
Similar Group / MSG), in the South West and in England and Wales.    
 

3.3 Table 3 also compares BCS Crime in the six areas in Gloucestershire with their respective 
MSGs.  Percentage changes are shown alongside rates to provide context and shows that 
all areas, with the exception of Gloucester are showing decreases in BCS Crime.  Rates in 
all areas with the exception of Cheltenham are comparatively good in comparison to Most 
Similar Groups and even then, Cheltenham has lower rates of crime per 1000 population 
that the MSG average.   
 

3.4 The Cotswolds and the Forest of Dean are showing the greatest decreases and both are 
performing well in relation rates in their MSGs.    

       
Table 3: BCS Crime in the 12 month period up to the end of April 2018 

Area 
MSG position 

out of 15  
(1 = good) 

Rate per 1000 population 
Percentage change 

compared to the same 
period last year 

Gloucestershire 
(out of 8) 

2 
26.83 

(MSG average 31.69) 
-3% 

Cheltenham 9 
38.77 

(MSG average 39.65) 
-4% 

Cotswolds 3 
15.18 

(MSG average 20.41) 
-12% 

Forest of Dean 1 
17.46 

(MSG average 23.77) 
-8% 

Gloucester 4 
42.67 

(MSG average 48.06) 
+3% 

Stroud 1 
 17.77 

(MSG average 24.33) 
-2% 

Tewkesbury 2 
 20.35  

(MSG average 25.86) 
-1% 

    

South West N/A 31.85 +1.39% 

MSG for 
Gloucestershire 

N/A 31.45 +2.71% 

England & Wales N/A 40.36 +1.54% 

 
3.5 Crime trends and performance are continually monitored by the Policy Officers in the OPCC 

in order that the PCC is able to hold the Chief Constable to account in accordance with his 
statutory responsibilities. 
 

Page 34



3.6 For more information about crime rates by area, please go to www.police.co.uk. This is 
publically available data from the Home Office that shows, through charts and maps, how 
Gloucestershire Constabulary is performing and includes analysis by crime type. 

 
4 Holding to account 

 
4.1 As reported at previous Panel meetings, the OPCC has recently refreshed the approach to 

holding to account in a new policy and, in line with our commitment to transparency, the 
topics of these meetings are now shared on the OPCC website here.   
 

4.2 Table 4 summarises topics discussed at the holding to account meetings: 
 

Table 4: Summary of HTA discussion topics recorded by the OPCC March – June  2018 

Month of HTA 
meetings 

Topics of discussion: 

March 

 Regional collaboration and the future of Tri-Force 

 Learning and Development  

 HMICFRS inspection and report  

 Reception at Bearlands, Gloucester police station  

 Appointment of permanent Deputy Chief Constable  

 Webcast with PCC  

 Appointment of Head of People Services and Workforce Development 

April 

 Regional collaboration and the future of Tri-Force  

 Issues with 101 telephone calls  

 Serious violent crime – national trends and local response  

 Visit of Louise Haigh MP, Shadow Home Office Minister  

 Concern re burglaries, especially in rural areas  

 Implications of tri-force restructure on vehicle fleet  

 Changes in Constabulary Executive Support Team 

May  No meeting due to leave 

June 

 Gloucester double murder investigation  

 Data sharing with Borough and District Councils  

 Police Points Review  

 Use of former Lydney police station  

 Re-occupation of Bearlands Police Station  

 Provision of performance data by the Constabulary to the PCC  

 User requirement for Stroud Police Station  

 HMIC Child Protection update 

   
5. Estates update 

 
5.1 Following extensive surveys and having taken the advice of a number of consultants in 

relation to Stroud Magistrates’ Court it has been decided that our original plan to relocate 
the Learning and Development team to Stroud is not cos effective.  When the OPCC 
acquired the building at zero cost from the Ministry of Justice we had plans to develop both 
the court and the Stroud Police Station into fit for purpose multi-use buildings.  
Unfortunately however, our  research has shown that the cost of redeveloping the court 
along the lines originally intended, are more than we can afford as it is in a far worse state 
of repair than we were led to believe.  

5.2 Neither the police station nor the magistrates’ court had had any major investment for a 
substantial period of time. The backlog of maintenance costs would include a new heating 
system throughout; replacement UPVC windows and re-cabling of electrical services. So 
instead of costing around £1-£2m to make the building usable, we now know the bill would 
be closer to £5m which, we feel, cannot be justified in the current financial climate.  

5.3 The PCC is still committed to a strong police presence in the centre of Stroud, which means 
a police station in the town but more work needs to be done before we decide the best 

Page 35

http://www.police.co.uk/
https://www.gloucestershire-pcc.gov.uk/the-office-that-supports-the-pcc/transparency/meetings/holding-to-account/
https://www.gloucestershire-pcc.gov.uk/media/3759/police-and-crime-commissioner-and-chief-constable-meeting-march-2018.pdf
https://www.gloucestershire-pcc.gov.uk/media/3927/police-and-crime-commissioner-and-chief-constable-meeting-april-2018.pdf
https://www.gloucestershire-pcc.gov.uk/media/3928/police-and-crime-commissioner-and-chief-constable-meeting-june-2018.pdf


option. In the meantime, there will be no changes as we maintain our existing estate and 
continue discussions with our other partners as we consider our next move. Updates will be 
provided at future meetings. 

6. OPCC Staff update 
 
6.1 The Panel were notified at the last meeting about a number of posts within the OPCC that 

were being advertised.  I am pleased to confirm that all posts have now been recruited to: 

 Chief Finance Officer – Stewart Walton (subject to Panel confirmation hearing) 

 Gloucestershire Road Safety Co-Ordinator (shared post with Gloucestershire Fire & 
Rescue Service) – Joanne Arnold 

 Research and Information Officer – Kezia Lane 

 Commissioning and Contracts Officer – Alana Greenway 
 

6.2 In addition to these posts, we have successfully recruited to the Independent Appeals 
Officer post and Kevin McCloskey will take up this position on 16 July 2018.  Members may 
remember previous updates regarding part two of the Policing and Crime Act 2017 which 
places mandatory responsibilities on PCCs to manage complaint appeals.  Enactment of 
this part of the Act by the Government has been delayed for various reasons which led to 
an exploration of models that would enable transparency and independence in the 
complaints process as outlined in the Act, but would be compliant with current legislation 
while we wait for the new law to be brought into force. 
 

6.3 It was agreed at the March Governance Board that we would replicate the model in 
Wiltshire whereby a joint post would be created between the OPCC and Constabulary to 
manage appeals resulting from the complaints process.  The post must be shared so that 
the Chief Constable can delegate the appropriate authority (under the current legislation) to 
handle the appeals but the officer will sit within the OPCC to introduce independence to the 
process.  Once part two of the Act is enacted, the post will transfer to the OPCC 
completely. 
 

6.4 Further detail regarding this post and the new process for managing appeals can be 
provided at a future meeting by the post holder if required by the Panel. 
 

6.5 Finally, I am pleased to announce that Annabel Staley will be joining the OPCC in August 
as the OPCC Special Project Officer.  This is the latest 12 month student placement post 
hosted by the OPCC and follows a number of successful placements since the office was 
created. 
 

6.6 The new office structure is shown below: 
 

 

Page 36



 
7. Tri Force update 
 
7.1 Please see below the communication circulated by PCC Martin Surl and Chief Constable 

Rod Hansen, Gloucestershire Constabulary, PCC Sue Mountstevens and Chief Constable 
Andy Mars, Avon & Somerset Police and PCC Angus Macpherson and Chief Constable 
Kier Pritchard, Wiltshire Police to personnel across the three force areas. 
 
You will recall that in April, we met to consider a proposal to modify the Tri-Force Specialist 
Operations collaboration arrangements. It was agreed that Avon & Somerset will be the 
host Force for a new collaboration on firearms operational delivery and training (via the 
Black Rock training centre). At the same time, it was agreed that our roads policing and 
dogs capabilities will transition to local control. On Monday (18 June), we reconvened to 
make further decisions in order to implement our previously agreed ambition. Once again, 
ACC Caroline Peters (the head of Tri-Force) and her team presented a clear and well-
articulated set of proposals for us to consider and debate, and the meeting was both 
productive and positive.  
 
The focus of our discussion was on what the new host Force arrangements will look like, 
and we agreed the broad details of how the model will work. We agreed how direction and 
control will work in a new hosted model, and that the host Force will provide many of the 
enabling services to support the collaboration (HR, resourcing, finance, equipment and kit 
etc.) to bring a more cohesive approach.  
 
It is important to recognise the operational success of Tri-Force since its inception in 2014 
which has been based upon the high calibre and talent of the staff working across the 
collaboration. However, we have listened to and respect the concerns raised by colleagues 
who are keen to ensure we all do the best job possible. A number of recent reviews 
highlighted important areas to address and our decisions go to the heart of responding to 
these concerns. We want these new arrangements to help to resolve issues such as 
multiple HR and resourcing systems and policies, competing local priorities and other 
barriers to our day to day operations. This will help ensure the delivery of a sustainable 
firearms capability across our three Force areas, and bring roads policing and dogs under 
local command.  
 
Clearly there is a lot of fine detail that needs to be worked through before we can 
implement any changes to our existing collaborative arrangements. A programme team has 
been established – they will be developing a business case and transition plan over the 
summer and will be meeting with officers and staff over the coming weeks to go through the 
detail.  
 
We will of course keep you updated as things progress.  

 
 
8. Body Worn Cameras update 
 
8.1 I am pleased to confirm that the Constabulary is now a step nearer to providing personal 

issue body worn video (BWV) cameras to all uniformed officers and PCSOs. These 
cameras will keep personnel safer, make investigations easier and add to public confidence 
by showing them what the police do – and what they face.  
 

8.2 The Constabulary has been able to provide the equipment following the PCC’s decision to 
raise the council tax precept earlier this year after he agreed with the Chief Constable that 
cameras would be a valuable addition, supporting officers’ wellbeing, particularly when they 
are on patrol alone.   The Governance Board has now approved the supplier, Revel Media 
Ltd, following a robust procurement process and contract due diligence.  
 

Page 37



8.3 The cameras will achieve four main aims:  
• Improve officers’ welfare  
• Improve public confidence  
• Improve evidential capture  
• Reduce bureaucracy  
 
 

9. Child Friendly Gloucestershire – a proposal 
 
9.1 Unlike most PCCs, as an independent PCC Martin Surl does not have a political party 

machine behind him.  In line with his manifesto commitment, and to help support and guide 
him, the OPCC has developed a group of ‘critical friends’ called the Commissioner’s Forum.  
This is a panel of experts and representatives from across the county from a range of 
backgrounds including the media, faith groups, education, the environment and criminal 
justice.  The group is apolitical and has the best interests of the county at heart. Its 
members are extremely important to us as they challenge our decision making and help 
ensure that we work for the best interests of the community. 

 
9.2 Following the two inspection reports from Ofsted and HMIC (now HMICFRS) last year into 

how local agencies support the most vulnerable children in Gloucestershire, the PCC was 
urged by Commissioner’s Forum to meet his wider crime reduction responsibilities and to 
“do something”.  It’s taken a while because the OPCC was very conscious that both 
Children’s Social Care and the Public Protection Team in the Police have been extremely 
busy doing the important work they have to do as well as developing and implementing 
improvement plans.  The task for the OPCC was to find a way of supporting services in a 
non-tokenistic way, engaging with the third sector and young people to enhance 
mainstream and statutory services whilst ensuring duplication of effort is avoided. 
 

9.3 This is actually very difficult as there are many services across the county working with 
young people and with those services come plans and strategies which include some 
statutory documents such as the Health and Wellbeing Board’s Children & Young People’s 
Framework.   
 

9.4 Through talking with operational staff from both public and voluntary agencies, we have 
found there is a real need and desire to find a way of pulling sectors together and to 
support professional appreciation of activity.  We also found that the voice of young people 
is often not front-and-centre of strategic planning.  Finally, feedback from partners indicated 
that we need to think about how to engage with communities in supporting our children, 
particularly those children deemed most vulnerable. 
 

9.5 Following research and consultation, a proposal has now been circulated to strategic 
leaders across the county about how we can collectively move forward and develop a 
better county for our children.  Our aspiration is simple: to create a child friendly county, 
where what young people say are their hopes for Gloucestershire are placed at the heart of 
decision making and service delivery. 
 

9.6 The model we are proposing is based firmly on the Child Friendly Leeds approach which 
brings together public, voluntary and private sectors under one vision which has been 
identified by young people.  We believe this innovative partnership approach will go beyond 
supporting improvements in key statutory areas to enhancing the lives of future 
generations.   
 

9.7 The office has received an extremely positive response from agencies and individuals in 
receipt of the proposal and many of these responses are being followed up with 
conversations or representations at boards across the county.  This is very important to us 
as this is merely a proposal and the intention behind it is to start a conversation about what 
is right for Gloucestershire.  We are committed to developing this approach in partnership 

Page 38



with others over the next year and will be happy to provide further updates to the Panel if 
required.   

 
 
10. Board of National Law Enforcement Data Programme (NLEDP) 
 
10.1 I am pleased to report that Martin has recently joined the Board for the National Law 

Enforcement Data Programme representing the interest of PCCs in a programme 
overseeing major development in police data applications. 
 

10.2 Quoting from the Home Office website: 
 
The Home Office has existing data systems whose contracts begin to expire in 2019. These 
systems are expensive to operate and maintain, and difficult to change to accommodate 
the rapidly evolving law enforcement landscape. Additionally, some systems and 
components are approaching end-of-life or end-of-support. This procurement will enable 
NLEDP to replace these systems with the Law Enforcement Data Service (LEDS). LEDS 
will ensure continuity of business services, and act as a platform for innovation to transform 
the way the Home Office manages and supplies data services to Law Enforcement 
communities and other authorised agencies throughout the UK and internationally. 

 
 
Paul D. Trott 
Chief Executive 
Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner for Gloucestershire 
July 2018 

Page 39

https://www.digitalmarketplace.service.gov.uk/digital-outcomes-and-specialists/opportunities/1227


This page is intentionally left blank



F
ewer police on the streets; less money 
to pay for more and an increase in 
violent crime – particularly involving 
knives. Just some of the issues that 

have caused concern during the last year.

In meetings with the Home Secretary 
and other Government representatives, 
I have consistently argued that  Central 
Government cuts in the Constabulary 
budget of more £30 million since 
2010 have been to the detriment of 
neighbourhood policing. I have been 
banging-on about this since before I fi rst 
was elected. Now it is a national issue.

You can argue whether the three 
are connected. But by switching the 
responsibility for raising extra money to Police and 
Crime Commissioners, it is clear the Government sees 
the solution to police funding in 
local not national taxation.  

On the Home Offi ce’s 
recommendation, therefore, I 
was able to put up the police 
share of council tax by 
around £12 per year.  This 
has enabled the Chief 
Constable to re-shape 
his neighbourhood 
policing operation, 
recruit new 
offi cers to work 
more closely in 
urban and rural 
communities 
and in schools 
and aim to tackle 
the expanding 

Office of the

Gloucestershire

Police and Crime
Commissioner

ANNUAL
REPORT

17
18

of the Police & Crime Commissioner

workload in child protection and child 
sexual exploitation. 

More offi cers are being issued with body 
worn videos which, with fewer police 
on the streets, is very important not 
only for gathering evidence but also to 
protect offi cers and help keep them safe 
in potentially dangerous situations. The 
mounted section proved its worth after 
an extended trial and the use of spit 
guards in custody was also approved 
following extensive research. 

The so-called ‘Thin Blue Line’ will only 
stretch so far, and many believe it is near 
to breaking-point now. But I believe 
people in Gloucestershire are supportive 

of their police and I am proud of the selfl ess service 
they give on a day to day basis.

Neighbourhood Policing -
we’re all on the same page now

Crime Commissioners, it is clear the Government sees 
the solution to police funding in 
local not national taxation.  

On the Home Offi ce’s 
recommendation, therefore, I 
was able to put up the police 
share of council tax by 
around £12 per year.  This 
has enabled the Chief 
Constable to re-shape 
his neighbourhood 
policing operation, 

they give on a day to day basis.
the solution to police funding in 
local not national taxation.  

On the Home Offi ce’s 
recommendation, therefore, I 
was able to put up the police 
share of council tax by 
around £12 per year.  This 
has enabled the Chief 
Constable to re-shape 

Body worn cameras are scheduled 
for all frontline offi cers and staff 
by the Autumn

Left: Police and Crime 
Commissioner Martin Surl 

campaigned for more 
neighbourhood policing 

when former Home 
Secretary Amber Rudd 

visited Stroud Police 
Station

1 A
pril

 2017 to

31 M
arch

2018

Page 41

Agenda Item 8



ANNUAL REPORT 2017/18

D
espite an independent report indicating strong evidence the county 
would benefi t, reforms to how Gloucestershire’s Fire and Rescue 
Service (GF&RS) is run were put on hold.

A detailed study, initiated by the Home Offi ce, said bringing the 
service under the control of the Police and Crime Commissioner (PCC) 
would make the service more accountable and improve community safety. 

Among the potential advantages, the 69-page document said changes to 
the way the service is governed would lead to:

n	 Improved collaboration between 
police and fi re services 

n	 Enhanced community safety
n	 Improved fi nancial sustainability, 

increased transparency in the 
cost of GF&RS and a clearer 
understanding of what the public 
gets for its money

n	 Greater scrutiny, accountability, transparency and visibility of 
governance

n	 Greater visibility and savings from shared estate with better use of 
public buildings

But the report also concluded that reforms, which had already been 
agreed in other parts of the country, were unlikely to be adopted in 
Gloucestershire due to political constraints and the opposition of some 
county councillors. 

Instead, a new body called the Blue Light Collaboration Board was created 
to examine greater collaboration between the county’s emergency 
services in line with some of the report’s recommendations. These included 
integrating Tri-Service vehicle workshops; shared management for police 
and fi re vehicles and converting the county’s Fire Stations into ‘emergency’ 
centres to include both police and fi re services. 

The PCC deferred further action pending closer collaboration.

Page 2   l   Annual Report of the Police & Crime Commissioner 1 April 2017 to 31 March 2018

FORMER DEPUTY 
CONFIRMED AS COUNTY’S 
CHIEF CONSTABLE 
Christmas came early for 
former deputy Rod Hansen 
when he was confi rmed as 
Gloucestershire’s permanent 
Chief Constable in December.

Mr. Hansen, 51, had been the 
acting chief since the retirement 
of Suzette Davenport in April 
2017.  

He said, “It is a privilege to serve 
the public and a particular 
privilege to do so as a police 
offi cer.  I am delighted to be able 
to continue to work alongside 
such a supportive county and 
such magnifi cent men and 
women who put themselves in 
harm’s way every day”.

Rod Hansen started his career 
with Avon and Somerset 
Constabulary and came to 
Gloucestershire as Deputy 
Chief Constable in May 2013, 
taking over as temporary chief 
constable in May 2017.  He has 
been a hostage negotiator since 
1998, is the National Police 
Service Lead for mounted 
policing and the police dog 
sections and is also the senior 
civilian police advisor to the 
military capability at Joint Force 
Headquarters.

What a joint Police and Fire emergency centre in Tetbury might look like

Independent study favours 
change but fi re service 
reforms must wait

Page 42



ANNUAL REPORT 2017/18

1 April 2017 to 31 March 2018  Annual Report of the Police & Crime Commissioner   l   Page 3

T
he Commissioner’s Fund, which has helped to create and sustain nearly 
450  projects and organisations was named ‘Police Service of the Year’ 
in a ceremony at Westminster. 

The Police and Crime Commissioner’s innovative approach to 
reducing crime and anti-social behavior also landed a bronze award for 
‘providing initiatives that do most to engage local communities, creating 
greater resilience, better life chances and less dependency of public 
services’. 

Police and Crime Commissioner Martin Surl said, “I have involved the 
voluntary sector in my police and crime plan from day one because 
local people know the problems in their own areas and are best placed 
to do something about them. The 
Commissioner’s Fund is evidence 
of that and I am grateful that so 
many people have responded to the 
challenge”.  

The iESE Awards are open to any 
public body in England, Wales, 
Scotland and Northern Ireland. There 
were more than 600 nominations in 
the 10 categories which celebrate 
public sector innovation and 
transformation.

OPCC Commissioning team members Alana Greenwa y (left) and Joanna Szymanska with 
Deputy Chief Executive Richard Bradley

Caring for Communities and People in 
Cheltenham

Commissioner’s Fund wins 
‘Police Service of the Year’

POLICE WILL STAY IN THE 
CENTRE OF STROUD
Police and Crime Commissioner 
(PCC) Martin Surl resolved the 
uncertainty over the future of 
Stroud’s former Magistrates 
Court when he completed a 
deal to acquire the building. 

But the jury is still out over what 
happens next. 

Even before the building closed 
in 2016, neither the police 
station nor the magistrates’ court 
had had any major investment 
for a substantial period of time.  
An in-depth survey revealed 
the cost of making it habitable 
again would be close to £5m, 
more than double the original 
estimate. 

“I am still committed to a strong 
police presence in the centre of 
Stroud, which means a police 
station in the town. But the cost 
of redeveloping the building 
along the lines I had in mind 
originally, cannot be justifi ed in 
the current climate”, said Mr. Surl. 

Below: Stroud Police Station with the 
former Magistrates’ Court

Page 43



Page 4   l   Annual Report of the Police & Crime Commissioner 1 April 2017 to 31 March 2018

ANNUAL REPORT 2017/18

KEEPING OUR YOUNG PEOPLE OUT OF THE 
CRIMINAL JUSTICE SYSTEM

C
hild offenders are themselves often 
vulnerable young people for whom 
traditional sanctions that lead to a criminal 
record are both ineffective and inappropriate. 

This is the premise behind the ‘Children First’ project 
recently introduced by the Constabulary, working with 
the Crown Prosecution Service and Gloucestershire 
Youth Support Team.  

Under ‘Children First’, as long as it’s not a serious 
offence, young people who admit what they have done 
can be considered for what’s called a Youth Restorative 
Intervention (YRI). Like Restorative Justice for adults, it 
requires the young offender to take responsibility for 
the harm they’ve done and make amends to the victim. 

Since the project began, most recent fi gures show 
that 94 young people have received YRIs as a direct 
alternative to criminalising sanctions. This has 
contributed to a 30% increase in the use of Restorative 
Justice for young people. I

n early 2017, both the Constabulary and County 
Council received poor inspection reports from 
Ofsted and HMIC regarding how the county 
responds to the most vulnerable young people at 

times of crisis.  

Following the publication of those reports, the Police 
and Crime Commissioner (PCC) has been urged 
by the public to meet his wider crime reduction 
responsibilities and “do something”.  

The PCC’s Policy Offi cer Ruth 
Greenwood said, “Through 
talking with operational 
staff from both mainstream 
and voluntary agencies, we 
have found that there is a 
real need and desire to pull 
sectors together to fi nd a 
more holistic approach to 
supporting children. 

“We also found that too often 
the voice of young people 
is neither at the forefront nor the heart of strategic 
planning”.  

As a result, the Offi ce of the Police and Crime 
Commissioner (OPCC), working with former detective 
Nigel Hatten QPM, who has many years’ experience 
in public protection, is currently developing a better 
partnership approach to supporting young people’s 
services. 

PUTTING CHILDREN   FIRST…

Overall, the numbers of children held in police custody 
in Gloucestershire has declined signifi cantly from 1,516 
in 2010 to 650 in 2017 making Gloucestershire one of 
the lowest areas in terms of the numbers of children 
detained. 

In the short fi lm  explaining ‘Children First’ we agreed 
not to identify the two women who shared their 
experiences. 

A short fi lm explaining the background to the Children 
First project can be viewed here

“Partners must 
fi nd a more 
effective way of 
working together 
as we all have 
to play a part in 
looking after 
our children and 
young people”.

TICKING A BOX IS NOT THE SAME AS DOING SOMETHING

Page 44

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=neGaYneSxj8


1 April 2017 to 31 March 2018  Annual Report of the Police & Crime Commissioner   l   Page 5

ANNUAL REPORT 2017/18

“No magic solution 
to knife Crime”

One of issues causing the county most concern is the 
increase in violent crime. 

Deputy Police and Crime Commissioner Chris Brierley, 
who is vice-chair of Safer Gloucestershire said “Whilst 
the county, like the rest of the country, is not immune 
to the rise in violent crime, we in Gloucestershire are 
already working in a partnership way in trying to reduce 
this type of offence. But there is no magic solution”. 

A working group has been set up with partners, the 
voluntary sector and community representatives to try 
and come up with a county wide approach for dealing 
with this issue.

PUTTING CHILDREN   FIRST…

The aim, says PCC Martin Surl, is to make a real 
difference and not just tick boxes.

Mr. Surl said, “Collectively, we are failing some of 
the most vulnerable children in our county and that 
needs to change. 

“It is not the remit of one organisation but the 
responsibility of many. Partners must fi nd a more 
effective way of working together as we all have to 
play a part in looking after our children and young 
people”.

A new way to
get in touch

A 
police service 
that is accessible 
and accountable 
is one of the key priorities of the Police 

and Crime Plan. To help us provide information to 
local communities in a timely and targeted way, 
Gloucestershire Constabulary and the Offi ce of the 
Police and Crime Commissioner launched a new 
community messaging system earlier this year called 
Your Community Alerts.

Your Community Alerts will help you keep informed 
about policing activity in your local area and with its 
two-way messaging feature we can also listen to what 
you have to say. Whether it’s an alert, an appeal or 
simply a reassurance message Your Community Alerts 
will message people either by email, text or voicemail 
dependent on your preference.

Signing up is free and only takes a few minutes by 
visiting www.yourcommunityalerts.co.uk

TICKING A BOX IS NOT THE SAME AS DOING SOMETHING

#knifefree

Page 45



Page 6   l   Annual Report of the Police & Crime Commissioner 1 April 2017 to 31 March 2018

ANNUAL REPORT 2017/18

SAFER GLOUCESTERSHIRE 
A new body is working to 
enhance public safety in 
Gloucestershire. 

‘Safer 
Gloucestershire’ 
was formed 
in July and 
calls on the 
expertise and leadership of 
senior managers from a range of 
agencies across the county. Their 
job is to anticipate potentially 
dangerous or harmful situations 
and plan solutions should they 
arise. 

The new body works closely 
with the Police and Crime 
Commissioner, local authorities 
and other partnerships such 
as the Health and Well Being 
Board and the Youth Justice 
Partnership Board and promises 
a different approach by:

● Reducing demand for 
public services through 
early intervention and a 
preventative approach. 

● Using an evidence based 
decision making approach 
to determine priorities and 
problem solve

● Being more proactive and 
responding quickly to new 
threats. 

● Proactively managing 
community relations and 
tension in partnership with 
the local community and 
networks. 

● Ensuring services are centred 
on people and communities – 
and reducing duplication.

● Working with people and 
communities – building 
on their strengths and 
encourage self-help. 

Gloucestershire’s Deputy PCC, 
Chris Brierley, the board’s Vice 
Chairman said, “Gloucestershire 
is already a safe place to live and 
work. Our task is to make the 
county even safer”.

H
olding the Constabulary to account is one of the Police and Crime 
Commissioner’s primary responsibilities. This he does through 
weekly, one-to-one meetings with the Chief Constable - or more 
often should the need arise - and regular webcasts.

Here are three examples where the 
PCC held the Constabulary to account 
during the year under review:

‘Spit guards’ introduced after 
extended trial
Spitting is a disgusting habit. When 
projected at a police offi cer by a 
violent or hysterical offender in a 
confi ned space, it carries the added 
danger of spreading infection 
which can have extremely serious 
consequences. 

But a proposal to introduce a spit guard pilot was delayed until the PCC was 
satisfi ed the Constabulary had fi rst thought it through properly.  

The Chief Constable has a duty of care under the Health &Safety at Work 
Act but it is the PCC’s role to ensure offi cers are trained in recognising signs 
of vulnerability and to certify the correct procedures and protocols are in 
place to protect both staff and their ‘customers’.

Chief Constable Rod Hansen said, 
“This is an issue that divides opinion 
even within the service. Some regard 
them as a necessary and essential 
restraint; others see them as barbaric 
and maybe even infl ammatory”.

Here is a demonstration of how 
the spit guard is used and the 
environment in which police offi cers 
sometimes have to work. Warning: it 
contains foul language from the start.

Institutional racism – the case of Bijan Ebrahimi
Following the case of Bijan Ebrahimi, a Bristol man who was murdered 
after being wrongly accused of being a paedophile and Avon and 
Somerset Police was branded institutionally racist, the PCC questioned 
whether safeguards were in place to prevent similar issues occurring in 
Gloucestershire. 

Disclosure in court – the case of Liam Allan
In the light of the trial of student Liam Allan, 
who was charged with 12 counts of rape 
and sexual assault, which collapsed after the 
Metropolitan Police failed to disclose vital 
evidence that would have aided his defence, 
the PCC sought assurances that safeguards 
were in place to prevent something similar 
happening in Gloucestershire.

Holding to account

Spit guards may appear unpleasant but 
being spat at defi nitely is!

Inside a police cell in Gloucester

Page 46

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=j2SMcNSkL_I


1 April 2017 to 31 March 2018  Annual Report of the Police & Crime Commissioner   l   Page 7

ANNUAL REPORT 2017/18

I
t was possibly one of the most contentious decisions 
of the last twelve months but, after a lengthy public 
trial, the Constabulary decided to keep its mounted 
section. 

The announcement 
followed a year-long pilot 
and extensive academic 
research led by the 
RAND Institute and the 
University of Oxford in 
Gloucestershire.

Throughout the trial 
period, horses were used 
successfully on a range of 
tasks which confirmed the 
view they would be a big 
attraction for the public. 
And because people are 
more likely to go up and talk to an officer on horseback 
than one of foot, they would have an important role to 
play in neighbourhood policing. 

Public trial plus academic research 
proves benefits of mounted section

Research shows that members of the public are more likely to come 
up and chat to an officer on horseback

New direction for 
driver re-training 
New speed awareness courses were 
introduced in Gloucestershire in June.

The contract for delivering the courses, 
which are run under the National Driver 
Offender Retraining Scheme (NDORS), 
was awarded to TTC Group (UK) Plc, an independent 
company which specialises in improving motorists’ 
personal and professional knowledge.

TTC took over when the previous arrangement 
with Gloucestershire County Council ended on 31 
May following the collapse of the local road safety 
partnership due to disagreements over how the 
authority was managing the courses. 

New locations were added and other changes included 
extended hours for booking and a price reduction of 
around £14 per course.

 “I understand why 
this has been a 
controversial 
issue and that not 
everyone was in 
favour, but the unit 
has been put through 
a rigorous trial and 
has answered all the 
questions asked of it”.

PCC Martin Surl said, “I understand why this has been a 
controversial issue and that not everyone was in favour, 
but the unit has been put through a rigorous trial and 
has answered all the questions asked of it”.

Page 47



Page 8   l   Annual Report of the Police & Crime Commissioner 1 April 2017 to 31 March 2018

The Police and Crime 
Plan, updated in 2017, 
is the overriding 

strategy the police must 
work to. It will be in 
operation for the next 
four years and will take us 
beyond the next election 
in 2020.  You can read it on 
the OPCC website: 
www.gloucestershire-pcc.gov.uk/  

Our priorities remain:
n	 Accountability and accessibility
n	 Older but not overlooked
n	 Safer days and nights
n	 Safe and social driving
n	 Young people becoming adults
n	 Safer cyber

Want to know more?

Accountability and 
accessibility:
What’s it like to be held in a 
police cell? – A brief look at 
Independent Custody visitors

Safe and social driving:
A parent talks about losing 
her son in a road crash

Older but not overlooked:
‘Scamming’ older people 
is now regarded as a hate 
crime

Young people  
becoming adults:
How the Commissioner’s 
Fund helped turn one 
young life around

Safer days and nights:
Gloucestershire’s latest non-
alcohol venue, supported 
by the OPCC opens in 
Cheltenham

Safer Cyber:  
How an initiative for helping 
to keep kids safe online won 
an award for the two PCSOs 
behind the project

Police and Crime Plan 2017-2021
Video illustrations of some of the work being done 
under these headings are available through the 
links below.

All of these priorities are aimed not only at making 
Gloucestershire a good place in which to live, work 
and visit but also about ensuring a society that is 
fair, just and compassionate. To that end, plans 
are being drawn up for the delivery of two other 
important elements of the Police and Crime Plan 
- ‘A green and pleasant county for now and in the 
future’ which requires the Constabulary to operate 
in as responsible and sustainable a way as possible. 
‘A compassionate approach’, which extends to 
animals and their ability to enjoy a life free of 
cruelty and recognises the link between human 
wellbeing and animal welfare.

For publically available crime stats for your area go to www.police.uk and click on ‘Find your 
neighbourhood’. The Police and Crime Plan in full, together with more information relating to the 
annual report, is available by:

Visiting: www.gloucestershire-pcc.gov.uk Emailing: pcc@gloucestershire.pnn.police.uk
Phoning: 01452 754348 Twitter: Martin Surl: @glospcc  Office of the PCC: @glos_opcc
Writing to: The Office of the Police & Crime Facebook: www.facebook.com/GlosOPCC 
Commissioner, No 1 Waterwells, Waterwells
Drive, Quedgeley, Gloucester GL2 2AN
 
If you would like to see this summary in large print, another language or you just need to have it in another format, 
please let me know. 

Page 48

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=D6BPu78eqTM
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=a97wQZR0H_I
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=ubyBsI3I8pQ
https://www.facebook.com/GlosOPCC/videos/2212252488815741/
https://www.facebook.com/GlosOPCC/videos/2182055618502095/
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=mwH_ycFHIgc&t=65s


 

1 

 

   
 

POLICE AND CRIME PLAN PRIORITIES  -  QUARTERLY HIGHLIGHT REPORT  
 

1. Aims and Priorities 

 

The Police and Crime Commissioner’s aim is that the Police and Crime Plan will be delivered 
through the inclusion and involvement of the many partnerships and communities in 
Gloucestershire with the aim of making it a safer place in which to live and work. 
 

The Police and Crime Plan is being delivered through: 
 

 Priority 1 – Accessibility and accountability (AA)  

 Priority 2 – Older but not overlooked (OBNO)  

 Priority 3 – Young people becoming adults (YPBA)  

 Priority 4 – Safe days and nights for all (SDAN)  

 Priority 5 – Safe and social driving (SSD)  

 Priority 6 – Safer cyber (SC)  
 

Delivery plans for the above priorities will be continually developed throughout the period of the 
Police and Crime Plan 2017 to 2021 and will aim to deliver value for money. 
 

The purpose of the Police and Crime Plan Priorities Quarterly Highlight Report is to provide all 
stakeholders with an update that monitors progress in respect of each of the priorities, to 
include: 
 

 activities achieved during the current quarter; 

 activities expected during the next quarter; 

 any risks or issues identified will be managed through the risk and issue registers; 

 overview of budget. 
 

 

This report is a summary against activities. Members should note that this information is 
retrospective for the reporting quarter mentioned; as such it is an executive summary.  Due to 
report production timescales, information and updates may have since been superseded and 
will be updated in future reports. 
 

Report Number 16 

Report Period January 2018 – March 2018 

Author Richard Bradley   

To Police and Crime Commissioner 

Version V1.0  

Date 3rd May 2018  

Page 49

Agenda Item 9



 

2 

2. Quarterly update on progress for period  

 

 
Accessibility and accountability 
 
Intent: 
To get the right resources to the right situation or problem first time, every time, on time and 
dealing with the matter appropriately and effectively 

To realise the ideal of the local officer working in and with the communities of Gloucestershire 
 

 
1 

 
January 2018 saw the launch of Gloucestershire’s Neighbourhood Approach. 
The Constabulary has been working hard to develop a consistent and sustainable approach to 
neighbourhood policing across the county over the last year. In January 2018 launched this with 
some key promises and messages for our communities which are contained within this booklet. 
 

Neighbourhood 
Policing in Gloucestershire - January 2018.pdf

 

This work is a culmination of listening to our communities, staff, and partners and is being 
delivered in line with the Police and Crime Commissioner's Plan and national guidance on 
neighbourhood policing. 

The key Constabulary pledges relating to accessibility and accountability are 

  To make local policing accessible by providing a dedicated, named PCSO in every 
neighbourhood so that everyone knows who their local bobby is and how to contact them. 

  55+ dedicated PCSOs are a first point of contact for local concerns, but they work as part 
of a bigger team protecting the local and wider communities. They know their 
neighbourhood and the people living in it. They will be at the school gate to talk to 
parents, go into care homes and sheltered houses to talk to residents about the issues 
that are concerning them, and attend the events that matter in the community. 

 Additional officers invested into neighbourhood policing 2018  - schools officers, 
vulnerability PCSO’s and rural liaison officers 

Neighbourhood teams also include Police Constables and Sergeants, who sometimes work 
behind the scenes on a wide range of issues such as Dangerous Drugs Networks, tracking down 
paedophiles and the organised crime groups; which are targeting our rural communities. 

We have previously talked a lot about budgets and cut backs, this new offer has come at a time 
where many forces have had to make cuts in neighbourhood policing, including PCSOs.However, 
thanks to prudent spending decisions, changes to our operating model and some hard work to be 
more efficient and effective, Gloucestershire Constabulary has chosen to invest instead.  
 
This does mean neighbourhood policing relies on and is supported by other departments and new 
ways of working. From colleagues in our response teams, to specialist teams, including those 
looking after vulnerable children, investigating major crimes and firearms to those answering your 
calls for service and investigating your crimes and incidents. Our aim is to ensure that the service 

Page 50



 

3 

we give is the best it can be every time and whilst we can't promise to get it right every time we 
can promise to work with communities to find the best possible solutions. 
 

 
2 

 
Technology   
Neighbourhood policing cannot deliver service alone, and other concurrent work has been 
implemented around our first point of access, digital capability and technology in order to provide 
the best service first time in terms of calls for service from victims of crime and or Anti -Social 
Behaviour (ASB).  
 
Staff movements into our new Initial Investigation Team (IIT) brings a smarter way of working in 
terms of telephone investigation, intervention and prevention advice, signposting, partnership 
working and resolution at the first point of contact. The team are settling in and working through 
the demands placed on our service. 
  
Additional technological options and digital investigators within the control room environment offer 
first time recording of crime/incidents, resolution through effective investigation and or appropriate 
follow up resourcing to incidents that previously would have ‘pulled’ a cop off the street and 
reduced our ‘boots on the ground’.  
 
Working smarter around issues of fraud, dashcam and CCTV footage, cybercrime and other 
digitally enables crime means we ca offer a great investigative front end service whilst keeping 
officers and PCSOs in your communities.  
 
It is clear though from this work and the call handlers in our control room, that increasing demands 
does mean that our resources are stretched and we are working hard to work smarter, offer 
different ways for our communities to contact us, access information, find the right agency to help 
and not rely just on calling 101 
 
This is different and we continue to offer options for our public to access information, self-serve 
and signpost - where appropriate - to try and reduce unnecessary demand through calling for 
service – through our updated website.  
 
Here information is provided regarding your local neighbourhood team, how to share your 
concerns and work with us to make a difference to your community. How to receive updates on 
what the Constabulary is doing, who else can help and where to get support from other agencies. 
 

 
3 

 
Launch of Community Alerts   
Community Alerts a Secured by Design approved system enables the Constabulary and Office of 
the Police and Crime Commissioner (OPCC) to communicate directly with subscribers in 
Gloucestershire by text, email or voicemail. 
 
The system is in use across the Constabulary and allows for a wide range of information to be 
shared with, updated by and  inform local people through a choice of channels - a key element of 
the commitment we have made to local people through the Channel Management strategy, the 
Constabulary Business Plan and the Police and Crime Plan 
 
 

Page 51



 

4 

Neighbourhood 
Policing public leaflet January 2018.pdf

 
 
For more information please go to our website or access directly and join in! 
www.yourcommunityalerts.co.uk  
 

 
4 

 
Launch of Community Concerns  
Enables any member of local community to raise issues and inform our neighbourhood policing 
teams. We can then work through together any resolution, joint work, referrals to other agencies, 
resource allocation to tackling specific issues through Local Tasking process 
 
We are continually developing relationships, working with partners across the County, statutory 
and voluntary, from the schemes supported by OPCC to The Aston Project and many more.  
 
Our approach is focussing on prevention and intervention, as Peel identified in his original policing 
principles 
 
‘The basic mission for which police exist is to prevent crime and disorder… The test of police 
efficiency is the absence of crime and disorder, not the visible 
evidence of police action in dealing with them. 
 
Our aim is to share some key activity, outcomes and impact next quarterly update 
 

 
5 

 

Launch of Time Based Tasking  
In support of the work around Community concerns Neighbourhood policing has identified 
additional resource capability from our volunteers – Special Constabulary to Cadets, local 
community members to councillors – in order to task ‘time’ to specific issues. 

These have currently ranged from vehicle crime patrols and sharing prevention and intervention 
advice with vehicle owners, to implementing speed watch schemes and much more. 

Whilst still in its infancy the positive feedback from communities and volunteers alike 
demonstrates that this is a smarter way of working, providing resource and commitment to our 
communities in a different way but also ensuring this is a joint approach – with our communities in 
solving and resolving issues. Again more details to follow on specific activity and actions in next 
quarterly update.  

 

 
6 

 
Neighbourhood Policing Survey  
To ensure we continually seek community feedback, insight and understanding. The survey was 
created to gather the publics’ perceptions in Gloucestershire of Neighbourhood Policing (NHP); 
how much did they know about their local PCSO, what information they would like about NHP and 
whether they knew where to get information from. It also asked them to rate what they thought 
about NHP in their area and more broadly in Gloucestershire. 
 
The survey ran from 20th December 2017 to 5th January 2018, with a total of 1908 people 
complete the survey. This was a benchmarking exercise just before we launched our new 

Page 52

http://www.yourcommunityalerts.co.uk/


 

5 

approach and we have a full report which is being assessed and addressed as we move forward. 
 
All the feedback has been shared with the Neighbourhood Policing lead and a delivery plan to try 
and address some issues already actioned and work will continue into the next quarters for further 
updates. What is shared is the conclusion which offers a unique insight to the task ahead in 
sharing information, updating and building relationships with our communities, delivering a wide 
and vast service and ensuring that we are a member of those communities. 
 
Conclusion  
The analysis of the survey has highlighted a variety of points; however it is clear to see that only a 
minority have recognised and commented about Neighbourhood policing specifically, with the 
large majority speaking about Policing more generally.  
 
Examining the free text responses, people have not purely focused their comments on NHP and 
have blurred the lines between neighbourhood policing, response officers and/or the Police Force 
in general. They have also used this survey to air concerns/grievances about the state of Policing 
e.g. not seeing enough Officers, not dealing with enough crime etc., which may now have caused 
people to have created certain expectations about what the Police can do. Similarly, many have 
said they want more Officers with arrest powers etc, as opposed to PCSOs. However this may be 
a result of the public not fully being aware of the remit of PCSOs, so with further education around 
PCSOs, their attitudes towards them may alter to being more positive.  
 
Overall results have demonstrated that people don’t see much of NHP at the moment in their 
areas, or know what it is. Therefore, by launching the new NHP plan, we should be able to see a 
discernible change in attitudes and knowledge of the public at time 2. It also provides evidence 
that the new NHP plan is essential, but we must be mindful to provide information as to what it is 
and how it can benefit people, to avoid criticism and manage the publics’ expectations.  
 
Finally, here is a quote from one of the respondents about Neighbourhood Policing;  
 
“Whether we know our local PCSO or not is a very one dimensional measure of neighbourhood 
policing and I think misses the point. Surely it is all about the neighbourhood officers building 
relationships with the right people at the right time, not a blanket requirement for them to be 
known by everyone. There is great potential in the community that I live in on a new housing 
estate which neighbourhood policing could really play a part in developing. If you want us to know 
our PCSOs, then they need to come and join the community that is already here, not just rely on 
putting their names and photos on the website as your questions might imply.” 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 53



 

6 

 
 

Accessibility and accountability – planned activities in next quarter 
 

 

 Examples of and impact – Community Concerns 

 Examples of and impact – Community Alerts 

 Examples of and impact – Time Based Tasking 

 Citizens in Policing Board update on recruitment, retention, training and activity 

 Force Control Room and Initial Investigations Team (IIT) update – smarter ways of working and 
impact on public service 

 Update and launch of rural offer to communities 

 Recruitment of Schools Based officers 

 Cross referenced with other PCC priorities - Blue light services commitment to Dementia Strategic 
agreement and then operational work locally between Community Safety Partnership and the 
neighbourhood Safeguarding Officer to improve engagement and support. – Chief Inspector Pegler 

 Launch of a young neighbourhood watch scheme force wide through the police cadet’s. A part of 
this will be identifying and supporting older / more vulnerable neighbours and community members. 
PCSO Wren 

 Delivery of Intensive Engagement training program – update and insight 
 

 
Accessibility and accountability – Good News Stories  
 

 
Cheltenham local policing officers with regards to Organised Crime Groups (OCG) disruption, 
safeguarding vulnerable individuals and keeping the local community safe. 
 
Over the past couple of months Cheltenham NHP Team have been developing intelligence around Op 
Gentoo and a specific family engaged in criminality, ASB and their activity on The Moors Estate.  
 
Following this work a warrant was obtained for an address on The Moors and was executed in January 
2018 by the local team supported by officers from investigation and intelligence teams. The officers 
had to move extremely quickly, as almost as soon as they entered the estate the OCG members 
started warning each other of police presence.  
 
Following entry to the target premises, the team received information that gave them grounds to enter 
two other properties on the estate. This resulted in two OCG members being arrested for drugs supply 
offences and theft. A quantity of class A drugs, phones and a large amount of cash were also seized.  
 
The NHP Team are now working with Cheltenham Borough Homes to put in place a closure order on 
the target premises in order to protect the vulnerable resident who lives there. 
 
This activity will be followed up by a NHP led multi agency cocooning day on The Moors when the 
partners will target harden residents’ properties , gather further intelligence and work with the 
community to increase confidence and release the strangle hold the OCG has had on the estate for a 
number of years.  
 
 
 
 
 

Page 54



 

7 

 
Older but not overlooked 
 
Intent: 
That older people need to feel and remain an active part of our communities whether they live 
in their own homes or are in residential care 
Both should be part of the police beat with the local officer being visible and proactive with all 
vulnerable groups.  

 
1 

 
Operation Signature 
Delivery of Operation Signature awareness training to neighbourhood teams in preparation for 
support and follow up referrals. Operation Signature is a national response to supporting the 
elderly and vulnerable victims of fraud and preventing repeat victims.    
 

 
2 

 
Churn Project  
An average of 15-20 attend each session, 5 new people have joined this quarter. Two people 
referred through Wellbeing Agents Attendees report that they feel less isolated, more confident 
and have made friends. Members of the group are contributing to the activities on offer by sharing 
memories and expertise. 
 

 
3 

 
Cotswold Friends  
There are 11 lunch clubs up and running, with approximately 300 clients attending each month. 
Wyck Rissington lunch club has 4 volunteers as they cook the food for the clients. The other 10 
clubs have 2 volunteers per club. This totals 88 volunteering hours each month. In addition, some 
clients use volunteer drivers to attend the lunch clubs. This varies each month, as does driving 
time. 
 

 
4 

 
Stonehouse Memory Link (SML)  
Continues to publicise their project within the community, displaying awareness postcards in local 
shops, GPs’ surgeries etc. and using local community publications. They are continuing with their 
main purpose which is to support people with, or those living with family members with, memory 
loss and dementia. 
 

 
5 Forest of Dean Community Safety Partnership 

The work encompasses a range of activities and those will include other funded organisations. For 
example the dementia lead (Lena Maller) for the district has started to work with the police to bring 
more awareness of dementia to the police role. There is now a dementia lead within the local 
policing area that is going to participate in a Community Dementia Link worker (CDL) course who 
already has lots of knowledge and is using this to look at how the police are responding to cases. 
That officer will be a source of information for her colleagues who may have queries about 
dementia related incidents.  
 
This is also linking with other areas where they continue to build links with the police, e.g. they are 
currently looking at how to work with the police in linking community builders in the area – 
specifically Cinderford where the police are targeting intensive engagement. Through partnership 
connections they are able to identify community groups and local organisations that can work in a 
more inclusive way, an exciting piece of work which they will be sharing how it progresses over 

Page 55



 

8 

the coming months.  
 

 
6 

 
Forest Upcycling Project 
Staff and volunteers have so far completed 88 hours of work on the gardens of 9 people referred 
to us from the PCSOs and other organisations. This quarter they have been working on the 
gardens of an additional 2 beneficiaries: one in Littledean (GL14), and one in Wollaston (GL16). 
The project leaders continue to work with Barnwood Trust, and make regular referrals to them. In 
turn, Barnwood Trust refer to them for furniture help. 
 

 
7 

 
GL11  
Consistently have over 1,500 contacts per month. Over the period (Jan-March 18) they served 
over 750 lunches to vulnerable people in the community cafe. They have exceeded their 
participation and engagement figure of 1,300 for the year. In terms of extra value in an average 
month (Feb 2018) they provided 42 different community activities. During the period they had over 
24 people referred through their social prescribing programme either directly by a GP or self-
referred. 28 people have benefitted from their work in the Going the Extra Mile (GEM) 
employment programme.  
 

 
8 

 
Glos Bike Project 
Volunteers have contributed 210 hours so far across both the young people’s projects and the 
older people’s project. In total since 01/04/2017 Gloucestershire Bike Project has benefitted from 
4200 volunteer hours. They have also recently trialled a young person’s volunteering project, 
working with young people who are currently refurbishing bikes that are being donated to victims 
of bike theft locally. It is hoped that they can continue this project subject to funding.  
 

 
9 

 
Keep Safe 
All Safe Places have been contacted this quarter, with emails, calls and follow up visits where 
needed. Dementia awareness sessions are provided on request. Regular contact with members 
via information events, coffee mornings, presentations, drop in’s etc. 
 

 
10 

 
Roots Cafe  
This has continued to provide a high quality, low cost and friendly coffee shop. Staff get to know 
their customers and are able to support them when appropriate. The community space is used 
even more for community activities and groups, community meals, health and fitness groups and 
family activity days. Many activities held are free of charge, attracting many families in Kingsholm 
who are often hard to reach. They have attracted more new volunteers and most of the new 
events mentioned are going well, including the 'Fix it Cafe'. 
 
They are working even more closely with other local organisations such as GCH, Rotary and 
schools. Roots will also now host a support group for adults who are progressing from a targeted 
support group at the children centre. 
 

 
11 

 
Kingfisher Treasure Seekers  
The March show was a great success with over 600 people with learning difficulties attending over 
two days. The venue that the funding is for is a perfect size for them to be able to do their shows 

Page 56



 

9 

and it is easily accessible from all areas of the county. The Treasure Seekers were able to engage 
with Police Cadets, PCSO’s and new recruit police officers whilst showcasing their talent, thus 

Increasing their confidence and building trust around the police. 
 

 
12 

 
GAY GLOS 
Working with the County Hate Crime and Incident Strategic Group and the Steering Group. 
Working particularly with the Chair, Police Leads, and Victim Support lead in developing the 
strategy and delivering training across the County. Also leading on the steering group in 
developing a sub group for schools.  
 

 
13 Brighter Futures 

Gloucestershire Wildlife Trust delivered 22 Brighter Futures Courses with 110 people engaging 
with local green spaces. 
70% of participants had improved employability skills, 100% of local green spaces selected in 
targeted areas were improved for people and wildlife, and 90% of participants feel less socially 
isolated. 
 

 
15 

 
VSS Hate Crime Coordinator 

The new 2018 Hate Crime Action Plan has been produced with contributions from at least 25 

organisations/services/authorities working across the county.  

The VSS Co-ordinator has had several meetings during Q4 with partners (incl. Barnwood Trust; 

Cheltenham Borough Council; Gloucester Polish Association; Remembering Srebrenica; 

Keepsafe; Inclusion Glos; Cheltenham LGBT Partnership) across the county to promote the 

benefits of engaging with the county strategic group, and identify how their needs around hate 

crime can be met (e.g. training/materials/expertise/referral pathway to VS support).  

 
16 West End Partnership Cheltenham 

 Continues to support Sahara Saheli with a variety of activities and information giving 
sessions on a weekly basis.  Attendance is good. 

 Continue to organise debates in the Life’s Big Questions series with the next one planned 
for May 9th on homelessness. They have also agreed three further debates for the year to 
be held in July, September and November. 

 Continue to meet regularly as a group. 

 They are carrying out a feasibility study on the potential to hold a street festival in the 
Lower High Street to promote the area’s diversity. 

 They have started to work closely with Cheltenham Inter-Faith and members of that group 
have started to attend our meetings. 

 They have agreed to change our annual outdoor event to August this year. Planning for 
this event is underway.  

 They have reprinted their general leaflet. 
 
 

Page 57



 

10 

 
Older but not overlooked – planned activities in next quarter 

 

 

 Delivery of Operation Signature training to our partners in the Fire and Rescue Service to 
support the elderly and vulnerable victims of Fraud – Acting Detective Inspector Burford. 

 Blue Light services commitment to Dementia – Strategic agreement and then operational work 
locally between Community Safety Partnership and the neighbourhood Safeguarding Officer to 
improve engagement and support. – Chief Inspector Pegler 

 Launch of a young Neighbourhood Watch Scheme force-wide through the police cadets. A part 
of this will be identifying and supporting older/more vulnerable neighbours and community 
members. PCSO Wren. 
 

 
Older but not Overlooked – Good News Stories  
 

 
Treasure Seekers Performing Arts Shows at Police HQ 
On March 22 & 23 this year Treasure Seekers ran their show. It was a great success. 
The venue that the funding is for is a perfect size for them to be able to do their shows and it is easily 
accessible from all areas of the county. Treasure Seekers were able to engage with Police Cadets, 
PCSO’s and new recruit police officers, whilst show casing their talent, thus increasing their confidence 
and building trust around the police. Each show has a cast of over 140 people and attracted a further 
five hundred in the audience.  
 
This event saw the introduction of “Treasure Seekers Got Talent”.  
The Treasure Seekers perform on stage over the 2 days and are judged by people from the 
community, which included Lady Bathurst, local Councillors and PCSO Tracy Wren. 
The process helped boost the confidence of many of the performers and saw the audience, enjoying 
the spectacle and dancing along. Having attended the event I can say from first-hand experience that 
this gives a great opportunity for police staff and others in the audience to have a greater 
understanding of the needs of people with learning difficulties. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 58



 

11 

 

 
Young people becoming adults 
 
Intent: 
To deliver sensitive, relevant and effective policing ensuring our young people become law-
abiding, productive members of society 
To ensure that the ‘system’ must work for them, not against them 
 

 
1 

 
Children First Project (CFP) commenced 1/1/18 and has been successfully implemented with a 
multi-agency Joint Decision Panel [JDP] sitting every week (YST/ Community Harm Reduction/ 
Health/ Restorative Gloucestershire). In Quarter 4, 75 young people were diverted into non formal 
restorative outcomes Youth Restorative Interventions (YRI) as a direct alterative to criminalising 
sanctions. All of these young people were or are being managed through a restorative outcome 
(YRI), 1 received a Youth Caution as a result of non-engagement in the YRI. 
 

 
2 

 
Since the initial young people focused training inputs Oct – Dec 2017 there has been a 30% 
increase in the use of RJ Level 1 for young people. 

 

 
3 

 
Feb – April 18, 6 further training inputs focusing on young people have been delivered across the 
constabulary to capture all uniform officers Pc – Insp. 
 

 
4 

 
All custody staff have been trained in the need to seek alternative overnight accommodation for 
young people in custody as per the Police And Criminal Evidence Act (PACE) Transfer Protocol 
which has recently been revised. A sub group has been established to report into the Youth 
Justice Partnership Board to review custody decisions relating to young people as a partnership 
and the first successful PACE transfer has been made. 

 

 
5 

 
We are working with the Local Authority to increase the availability of PACE beds and hope to 
have 4 dedicated PACE beds as part of the Intensive Recovery and Intervention Service (IRIS) 
project. 

 

 
6 

 
2 Young people with potential to be subject of ASB Injunctions have been brought before the JDP 
for review and have received additional support and alternative interventions rather than an ASB 
Injunction. 
 

 
7 

 
Additional member of admin support staff has been employed by the constabulary to support the 
delivery of the Children First project. 

 
8 

 
Via AMELIX every year 9 class in every secondary school across the county has received the “Is 
it worth it?” input on Sexting, Mobile phone bullying and vulnerability. This equates to over 10,000 
young people. (Feb – March 2018.  

Page 59



 

12 

 
9 A Reoffending Action plan has been developed by the Youth Justice Partnership Board and 

covers three key areas: 

 Development of IRIS (Intensive Recovery and Intervention Service) offer for cohort of 
young people responsible for bulk of reoffending 

 Review of Interventions and programmes for young people who offend- this is supported 
by a restructure of the community teams within Youth Support Team (YST) and the 
development of an Assistant Team Manger Post with specific oversight of this area of work 

 Development of an early warning system with partners for young people who commit a 
second offence and which triggers a multi-agency response. 
 

 
Young people becoming adults – planned activities in next quarter 
 

 

 Revised PACE protocol to be signed off and clear system for escalation and review of 
decisions to be established at a senior level.  

 Joint training across YST, the Constabulary and Social Care is required and sub group to be 
established and monitor these outcomes.  

 Further work is also needed to progress the presence of Youth Custody Coordinators in the 
custody suite. 

 Continued review of the Children First project through the monthly working group to ensure the 
best outcomes are achieved.  

 Cost saving / spend review of the Children First project. 

 Consider longer term CF support member of staff beyond Dec 2018 

 Focus on developing very clear and consistent pathways for YP displaying ASB across the 
county working closely with Solace- to ensure based on same principles of CF- early 
intervention, partnership working, information sharing and non-criminalising and restorative 
interventions wherever possible 

 Young People Inputs to be delivered to all Sgts & Inspectors on leader’s days via Staff 
Development Unit. 

 Focus on ensuring there is a YST presence in the custody suite- to be progressed by the YJPB. 
 

  

 
Young people becoming adults– Good News Stories  
 

 
One young person was causing considerable ASB in her local area, particularly a local fast food outlet. 
She is on a Child Protection Plan had a really poor relationship with her parents. She was not 
engaging with her Social Worker and was in the police station frequently. She committed a number of 
offences within a matter of weeks and all were dealt with at the JDP. They included Assault PC, 
Common Assault and various Public Order Offences. The panel were committed to not criminalising 
the young person whilst ensuring she has the appropriate support. The young person has been given 
two YRI’s and has been working with a Case Responsible Officer from Youth Support Team. She has 
completed sessions with Victim Worker which resulted in her going into the Fast Food outlet and 
apologising to the staff. In addition they are considering a work experience placement there currently. 
The Case Responsible Officer joined up with a worker from Functional Family Therapy who are now 
actively working with the young person and family. Their relationship has begun to improve and the 
young person has not been in any trouble for 3 weeks now. 
 

Page 60



 

13 

  
Safe days and nights 
 
Intent: 
To better manage the Gloucestershire night-time economy, with alcohol related crime and 
disorder being reduced 
That everyone should be able to go out to our parks, pubs and streets without fear 
 

 
1 

 
Delivery of Op Signature awareness training to neighbourhood teams in preparation for support 
and follow up referrals. Operation Signature is a national response to supporting the elderly and 
vulnerable victims of fraud and preventing repeat victims.     
 

 
2 

 
Domestic Abuse Dashboard has gone live and is the most complex/comprehensive dashboard 
created by the Continuous Improvement Team thus far. 
 

 
3 

 
Domestic Abuse Continuous Improvement plan (CIP) has been refreshed and reformatted to align 
to HMICFRS sub headings; identification, response, investigation and partnership.  Outstanding 
task and finish recommendations absorbed into new CIP. 
 

 
4 

 
Vulnerability Identification Screening Tool (VIST) plan agreed with Force Response Unit to 
improve submission and quality of VIST.    
 

 
5 

 
Increasing use of Domestic Violence Protection Notice/Order (DVPN/O) and Domestic Violence 
Disclosure scheme (DVDS) due to work undertaken by Domestic Abuse Screening Tool (DAST).  
13 DVPN’s in 2018 thus far which already exceeds number for whole of 2017.  
 

 
6 

 
5 force regional Domestic Abuse (DA) meeting now established and is being led by 
Gloucestershire Constabulary.  Next meeting 25/5.  Next National DA meeting 9/5/18 in London. 
 

 
7 

 
12 month Child Protection awareness campaign and training plan - Operation Guardian launched 
October 17; 
 
• 500 Officers and support staff, Response and Contact have received voice of the child 
immersive scenario based training at the Skills Zone 
 
•Cadre of geographical safeguarding leads across Contact, Custody and LP now in place, driving 
up standards and providing tactical advice to teams. 
 

 
8 

 
Increases in number of VIST submission both quantity and quality. 
 

 
9 

 
Constabulary wide Child Protection Quality Assurance Audit.  Quality Assurance Audit now in 2nd 
cycle. Identified managers across the Constabulary audit team’s performance Learning is fed into 

Page 61



 

14 

Learning & Development and appropriate line management. Process is managed by Public 
Protection Bureau (PPB) safeguarding Detective Inspector.       
 

 
10 

 
Review and re-design of the Night Time Economy deployment model by Chief Inspector Gosden.  
This includes utilisation of Force Response Unit (FRU), NHP and joint working and tasking with 
partners.  In addition operational leadership support is being built into the model. 
 

 
11 
 

 
Work undertaken with Force Control Room (FCR) to create a process for identification of ASB for 
Solace which is working well.  
 

 
Safe days and nights for all – planned activities in the next quarter 
 

 

 Delivery of Op Signature training to our partners in the Fire and Rescue Service to support the 
elderly and vulnerable victims of Fraud – Acting Detective inspector Burford.  

 Blue light services commitment to Dementia – Strategic agreement and then operational work 
locally between Community Safety Partnership and the neighbourhood Safeguarding Officer to 
improve engagement and support. – Chief Inspector Pegler 

 Launch of a young neighbourhood watch scheme force wide through the police cadet’s. A part of 
this will be identifying and supporting older / more vulnerable neighbours and community members. 
PCSO Wren.  

 Scoping the potential of including missing in the visit or creation of a missing visit 

 High risk outstanding Domestic Abuse suspects being highlighted via Daily Management Meetings 
(DMM) for resource tasking.  

 Development of internal framework to support staff suffering Domestic Abuse.  Being developed in 
conjunction with Nick Gazzard.  

 BAE analytics pilot moving to next stage, following successful proof of Concept. Will provide 
valuable research tool and early identification of child at risk –  engage in progression and 
monitoring progression 

 Relocation Multi agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) to Shire Hall on target for September 2018 

 Full delivery of the Night Time Economy model including leadership 

 Performance framework for project solace are currently being developed and should be completed 
during this quarter 

 Public launch of urban Solace is planned for mid may – date currently looking at is the 14th May 

 Plans are being developed for the return of the partnership 

  ASB patrol plan with a view to undertaking the first urban wide patrol at the end of may 
 

 
Safer Days & Nights – Good News Stories 
 

 
No information provided  

 
 
 
 
 

Page 62



 

15 

 
Safe and social driving 
 
Intent: 
That people are able to move around our communities in safety and with as much ease and 
convenience as possible 
That the police will enforce the law when necessary, but will all work to reduce offending and 
antisocial driving 
 

 
1 

 
Drive iQ Gloucestershire (DIQG) 
This is a localised certificated online driving awareness programme delivered by Gloucestershire 
Fire and Rescue Service. It helps the student to acquire knowledge, which will inform decision-
making processes to reduce risk taking and misconceptions. 
For the 17/18 academic year, 1229 students have registered on the programme to date. 502 have 
already completed 5 or more modules. 1182 of the students are aged between 16 and 20, which 
is the high-risk target age group. 
 

 
2 Choose Zero 

This intervention has been specifically designed to challenge attitudes towards safety by younger 
drivers.  The presentation explores the facts and statistics covering the main road risks that result 
in fatal and serious collisions with the aim of eliminating false information and providing 
information to encourage informed choices for future travel.  The fatal four are covered in an 
interactive way that seeks to explore the attitudes of the students in a non-confrontational way, 
and uses several behavioural change techniques. Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service staff 
delivered the presentation to 70 young farmers at an event held at Hartpury College.   

 

 
3 Wrecked  

Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service delivered this workshop, designed to reduce the harm 
caused by drink and drug driving, to 209 students 
 

 
4 byPASSthEdaNGER 

227 students attended this workshop delivered by Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service staff. 
It is designed to encourage young people to “speak up” to careless or dangerous driving. 
 

 
5 

 
During the 17/18 year, Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service and road safety staff have 
delivered road safety education to 13,189 young people empowering their decision-making and 
providing them with strategies to reduce risk. 
 

 
6 Road Safety Team and Community Hub 

Following a review of road safety within Gloucestershire County Council (GCC). Existing posts 
have been integrated into the Transport, Highways Development Management and Network and 
Traffic Management in Shire Hall, as well as in Gloucestershire Constabulary. The new posts are 
able to work more closely with other teams to maximise their impact. The Community Hub sits 
within the Road Safety and Data Transport Team allowing for closer integration with colleagues 
across enforcement, road design, parking and passenger transport. 

Page 63



 

16 

During 17/18 the hub received 829 queries, the majority concerning speeding, parking and road 
layout. 
The Hub has recently produced new road safety pages on the GCC website which help to direct 
individuals and communities to the right place first time. 
 

 
7 4,684 camera speeding offences processed, 296 endorsable tickets and 199 other tickets issued, 

which led to 228 NDORS courses run in Gloucestershire, educating 5,107 clients, of which 2,314 
were Gloucestershire Constabulary detected offences, and 251 traffic prosecution files. 

 
8 29 letters forwarded in support of local mobile phones usage campaign 

 
9 Confirmation was given by the OPCC to bring NDORS administration in house from 1st June 2018 

and initial preparatory work undertaken. 

 

 
Safe and social driving – planned activities in next quarter 
 

 

 Ongoing with current level of activity with mobile speed enforcement. 

 Further work to be undertaken to take on NDORS administration, including implemetation of new 
software for booking and on-line payment, ready for go live 1st June 2018. Currently on track. 

 Recruited 2 new mobile camera officers to deal with community concerns. Undergoing training and 
commencement in enforcement by 1st May. 

 CJD Traffic Department will establish contact with local policing & special constabulary when 
additional officers recruited to develop strategy and take on local road concerns where possible. 

 GCC have indicated a potential willingness to digitise the fixed site camera network. Discussions 
are ongoing over a potential investment by them of up to £138,000. 

 Paper to submit for Police Management Executive Board to consider treatment of DASHCAM 
footage from the general public evidencing poor driver behaviour. Also to be an early adopter of a 
system to allow officers to report RTCs on a mobile app linked directly to the Constabulary 
reporting system and an on-line reporting tool for the general public to report non injury accidents. 
We thereby could improve the quality of our data, and potentially improve timeliness of RTC 
decision making and greater opportunity to educate rather than prosecute. 
 

 
Safe & Social Driving – Good News Stories 
 

 
No information provided  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 64



 

17 

 
Safer Cyber 
 
Intent: 
To ensure Gloucestershire is safer as people, commerce and other organisations increasingly 
live, trade and work on-line.  It underpins personal safety, economic growth and proseperity, in 
urban and rural environments, by supporting pepole of all ages, organisations and businesses 
 

 
1 

 
Delivery of inputs to schools, primarily focussed on Sextortion as part of a force priority, has reach 
21,390 pupils across 101 schools. 
 

 
2 A presentation has been made to the Gloucestershire Safeguarding Board’s Education sub group 

on Digital Crime Prevention and subsequent conversation enabling their support for the Sextortion 
awareness campaign. 

 

 
3 Training and advice continues to be livered to staff in schools and educational units across the 

different types in support of the whole county. 

 

 
4 Work continues to upskills staff across the organisation, including our force control room, in cyber 

safety principles. 

 

 
5 Inputs to community groups continue, prioritising areas of vulnerability and risk and ensuring that 

we are accessible to each community.  

 

 
6 Support to Gloucestershire businesses continues and the Safer Cyber digital harm reduction 

component is being integrated into the wider business crime prevention team to continue to drive 
our efforts to make digital business as usual. 

 

 
7 The activity delivered through the Cyber 4 Schools programme continues at pace and working 

alongside initiatives such as those by Amelix, we are making ongoing progress to educate our 
young people and reduce the potential for online risk and potential long term impacts of online 
behaviour as a child. 

 

 
Safer cyber – planned activities in next quarter 
 

 

 Further support to Op Signature by delivering upskill to our partners in the Fire and Rescue Service 
ensuring a holistic harm reduction approach. 
 

 The annual Gloucestershire Business Show will see us deliver an ambassador style approach, 
allowing us more flexibility to work across the themes and interact with our communities, whilst 
ensure that the digital threat to businesses are still being address through our involvement with the 

Page 65



 

18 

information security zone. 
 

 The presentation material used in relation to Safer Cyber is being standardised in terms of look and 
feel, relevant to the demographics of the recipient, ensuring that corporate language is minimised 
for education and community groups and that we maintain a consistent corporate brand when 
dealing with businesses. 
 

 Following national guidance around the structure of Cybercrime capabilities at a local policing level 
and the National Cyber Security Centre’s (NCSC) categorisation of cybercrime types, a review and 
potential reconfiguration will be required to ensure that we remain both compliant with the guidance 
issued and deliver the best possible service to our communities. 

 

 
Safer Cyber – Good News Stories 
 

 
No information provided  
 

 

Page 66



 

19 

3. Overview of Budget 

 
Commissioner’s Fund – Priority Leads Fund at 31.03.2018 

 

 

Priority 
 

 

Projected Spend 2017/21 
 

Awards to date 2017/18 

Accessibility and accountability £46,300 £46,300 

Older but not overlooked £96,751 £24,403 

Young people becoming adults £355,857 £284,898 

Safe days and nights £200,982 £77,982 

Safe and social driving £700 £223 

Safer cyber £134,336 £30,366 

Other £70,587 £60,928 

Projected Expenditure £905,513 £525,820 

Total Budget c.£1,000,000  

 

Page 67



This page is intentionally left blank



NATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF POLICE FIRE AND CRIME PANELS

NAPFCP Senior Democratic Services Officer – Robert Fox - T - 033301 34585 robert.fox@essex.gov.uk   
postal address  - Essex County Council, County Hall, Market Road, Chelmsford, CM1 1QH

NAPFCP Chairman - John Gili-Ross - 07957804621 e-mail - john.giliross@gmail.com

Page 1

Essex Police Fire and Crime Panel
Essex County Council

Chelmsford
Essex

Dear Chairman,

National Association of Police Fire and Crime Panels - NAPFCP

Please allow me to introduce myself as the Chairman of the newly formed National 
Association of Police, Fire and Crime Panels for England and Wales.  An inaugural 
meeting took place on 19th April 2018 at the LGA offices in London to review the 
formation of the Association, agree its outline terms of reference and initial work 
programmes and to elect a Chair and Vice Chair(s).

Invitations to the inaugural meeting were sent to all Panels asking each to send a 
representative to help ensure decisions made at the meeting were truly representative 
of all PCP’s / PFCP’s. A list of those panels that were represented at the meeting 
appears at the end of this letter.  Whilst not all representatives had delegated powers 
for their panels, out of the 21 panels that were represented, 16 (40%) of the total 
number of panels in England and Wales confirmed they would become association 
members at the inaugural meeting.  Whilst an additional 5 panel representatives were 
also in favour of the formation of a national association, they were not in a position to 
confirm their panel membership. 

It is hoped that membership will increase as the NAPFCP becomes established and 
include all PCP/PFCP’s to provide a common voice when interfacing with the Home 
Office, the National Association of Police, Fire and Crime Commissioners, the 
Association of Policing & Crime Chief Executives (APACE) and the LGA as appropriate. 

The NAPFCP membership subscription for the first year was agreed at £500. The Essex 
PFCP, as the lead authority for the NAPFCP Chairman will handle the associations 
operating accounts and be responsible for the generation of subscription invoices as 
appropriate.  The Association has a Treasurer, Paul Cain who was appointed at the 
inaugural meeting. 

The NAPFCP Terms of Reference were agreed as:

 To provide a forum for collaborative discussion of issues relating to and 
impacting on Police and Crime Panels and Police, Fire and Crime Panels (PCPs / 
PFCPs)

 To share ideas and experience in response to the expanding role of PCCs and 
PFCCs and thereby PCPs / PFCPs

 To create a mechanism for direct liaison between PCPs / PFCPs and the Home 
Office

Page 69

Agenda Item 10

mailto:john.giliross@gmail.com


Page 2

 To provide an opportunity for dialogue with relevant bodies such as the 
Association of Police and Crime Commissioners, Association of Police and Crime 
Chief Executives and others

 To support the development of joint PCP /PFCP responses to relevant 
consultations

 To promote professional standards

 To share good practice and create guidance and other supporting materials for 
PCPs /PFCPs

 To ensure stability and collective memory in a landscape where PCPs / PFCPs can 
have significant changes in membership

 To provide capacity for horizon scanning across all PCPs / PFCPs.

 To promote better public understanding of the role of PCPs / PFCPs.

Production of a NAPFCP constitution document will be undertaken by Dr Christopher 
Kemp, Norfolk PCP and supported by Carla Thomas, Merseyside PCP ready for the 
Frontline Consulting Annual Meeting of PCP / PFCP’s in November 2018.

A subscription invoice will be sent to you shortly in the hope that your panel will agree 
to become a member.  Should you have any questions relating to the formation of the 
Association or specific areas of interest that you believe should be addressed by the 
Association then feel free to contact Robert Fox or I, using the contact details given 
within this letter.  

Thank you and I look forward to meeting with many of you as time permits during the 
year.

Yours sincerely,

John Gili-Ross

Chairman - National Association of Police Fire and Crime Panels

Page 70



Page 3

National Association of Police Fire and Crime Panel - Membership
The following PCP’s / PFCP’s confirmed their commitment to become NAPFCP members 
at the inaugural meeting held on 19th April 2018:

Bedfordshire – NAPFCP Treasurer Paul Cain

Cleveland 

Derbyshire 

Dorset – NAPFCP Vice Chair John Adams

Essex – NAPFCP Chairman John Gili-Ross

Hertfordshire

Kent and Medway

Merseyside 

Norfolk

Northamptonshire

Northumbria

Nottinghamshire

South Yorkshire

Sussex

West Midlands

West Yorkshire – NAPFCP Vice Chair Alison Lowe

The following panels also sent representatives to the meeting but at that time they did 
not have the delegated powers to commit their panel to membership of the 
Association.

Lancashire

Leicestershire

North Wales

Staffordshire

Warwickshire

Page 71



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 
 
 
 
 

Gloucestershire Police and Crime Panel 
Shire Hall 
Westgate Street 
Gloucester 

 

Please ask for:  Mr. Martin Surl 
Our Ref:   
Your Ref:            
Direct Dial:  (01452) 754348 
Email: pcc@gloucestershire.police.uk 
Date:                             2 July 2018 

 
 

Dear Panel Members, 
 

RE: CHIEF FINANCE OFFICER 
 

Some members will recall that it was reported to the Panel in March this year that I had decided 
to advertise for a part-time Chief Finance Officer.  I am pleased to report that that process has 
now been completed.   

 
The criteria I have used to determine my nomination are: 

1) Qualification as a member of one of the recognised accountancy bodies as required by s.113 
of the Local Government Finance Act 1988. 

2) Understanding and ideally experience of fulfilling the role of a section 151 officer and the 
relevant statutory duties. 

3) Experience of managing large multi-million pound budgets in a public or private sector 
organisation. 

4) Experience of operating at a strategic level, of financial planning and of treasury 
management. 

5) Knowledge of the financial environment within which policing operates. 

6) Ability to interpret complex information, provide appropriate briefings to stakeholders and 
communicate effectively both verbally and in writing. 

7) Understanding of the importance of scrutiny, audit, governance and risk management 
arrangements. 

 
Following a thorough selection and interview process I have proposed Mr Stewart Walton for 
appointment as my Chief Finance Officer.  A copy of my decision is attached. 

Page 73

Agenda Item 11



 
I believe Mr Walton fully meets the above criteria. 
 
1) Stewart has been a Chartered Accountant since 1985 and therefore fulfils the statutory 

requirement of the role. 

2) Although Stewart has not worked in the public sector before and has not been a s.151 officer 
he has worked at a senior level in industry and has a good knowledge of a Chief Finance 
Officer's duties under the relevant legislation. 

3) Stewart has more than ten years' experience of operating at a senior financial level in the 
insurance industry across a number of different associated companies and jurisdictions. 

4) Stewart has had particular responsibility for managing expenditure and costs across the 
Group and set up regular reporting processes to provide insight into changes the impact of 
reduction activities.  He has run unit cost exercises to support efficiency programmes, worked 
with Procurement to ensure best practice was applied and was part of the team to develop 
and roll out the strategy for the region, together with appropriate profit, expense and margin 
targets. 

5) As a resident of the County, Stewart is familiar with the financial climate within which policing 
in general and the Constabulary in particular is required to operate. 

6) Stewart is an excellent communicator who will be able to explain the financial issues facing 
the Commissioner and the Constabulary to them and other stakeholders including the Panel. 

7) Having come from an insurance background Stewart is very familiar with importance of 
scrutiny, audit, governance and risk management arrangements 

The terms and conditions of appointment are also attached to this letter. 
 
I hope this is sufficient to form the basis of the confirmation hearing. 

 
Yours sincerely, 

 
 
Martin Surl 
Police and Crime Commissioner 

Page 74



 

Request for decision:   

Subject matter:  
 
Appointment of Chief Finance Officer for the Police and 
Crime Commissioner 

 

Executive Summary: 
 
The Chief Finance Officer for the PCC retired in August 2016. Following a trial 
during which the role was met by the CFO for the Constable it was decided 
earlier this year to advertise for a part-time CFO to work solely to the PCC. 
 
Following an extensive search and recruitment process it is proposed, subject 
to confirmation by the Police and Crime Panel that the role is offered to Mr 
Stewart Walton. 

 

Recommendation: 
 

 That Mr Stewart Walton undertakes the role of the Chief Finance Officer 
for the PCC on a part-time basis. 

 That the CFO reports to the PCC in respect of his statutory duties and is 
line managed by the Chief Executive. 

 That Mr Peter Skelton will revert to his former role as solely CFO for the 
Chief Constable. 

 
 

Police and Crime Commissioner 
The above request has my approval. 
 
 

Signed: 
 
 
  
 

Date: 2 July 2018 
 

 

Page 75



This page is intentionally left blank



Job description 
 

Role Profile: OPCC – Chief Finance Officer 

To fulfil the responsibilities of the Section 151 statutory Chief Finance Officer on 
behalf of the Police and Crime Commissioner (PCC) for Gloucestershire ensuring 
arrangements are in place for proper financial administration and good 
governance.  
 
To ensure the proper administration of the PCC’s financial affairs, as required by 
Schedule 1, paragraph 6 of the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 
and section 114 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988. 
 
The post holder will work with the Chief Executive in formulating and implementing 
a sound, sustainable business and financial strategy, as well as supporting the 
delivery of the PCC’s Police and Crime Plan and advising on the financial 
implications of policy options and allocation of resources. 

Rank/Grade  

£30,000 p.a.pro rata = £75,000 FTE 

Reports To 

The Chief Executive of the Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner 

Requirements 

Vetting Level: OPCC Personnel will be vetted to – Management Vetting (MV) and 
Security Check (SC). A higher level of vetting may be required for certain roles or 
grades and suitable clearance will be required before appointment or deployment. 
 
Mobility: The OPCC reserves the right to require you to carry out any other duties 
or move you to any other post appropriate to your grade, at any location within the 
county of Gloucestershire, as business requirements dictate. 
 
Working Pattern: Normal working hours will average 15 hours per week. This will 
be worked subject to the needs of the service and may involve shift, night, 
weekend and public holiday working. 
 
Standards of Professional Behaviour: All members of OPCC/ Police Staff / 
Police Officers must comply with these standards. 
 
Driving / Licence Travel: The post holder may be required to travel to meetings 
around the county. 
  
Training and development: Undertake the required training and development to 
maintain working knowledge. 

Page 77



Minimum Criteria 

Qualified Accountant: 

 The Chief Finance Officer must be a member of one  the following bodies: 
- the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales,   
- the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Scotland, 
- the Chartered Association of Certified Accountants, 
- the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy, 
- the Institute of Chartered Accountants in Ireland,  
- the Chartered Institute of Management Accountants, and 
- any other body of accountants established in the United Kingdom and for the 

time being approved by the Secretary of State for the purposes of this 
section. 

 The Chief Finance Officer must have an understanding and ideally experience 
of fulfilling the role of a section 151 officer and the relevant statutory duties.  

 Experience of managing large multi-million pound budgets in a public or private 
sector organisation.  

 Experience of operating at a strategic level within a political and high profile 
environment.  

 Experience of financial planning including budget setting and medium term 
strategies.  

 Experience of developing treasury management strategies and processes.  

 Knowledge of the financial environment within which policing operates.  

 Ability to interpret complex information and provide appropriate briefings to 
stakeholders.  

 Ability to communicate effectively both verbally and in writing.  

 Understand the importance of scrutiny, audit, governance and risk management 
arrangements.  

 Ability to network and build effective partnerships both internally and externally. 
 

Policing Professional Qualities 
 

Serving the public Professionalism 
Leading strategic change Decision making 
Leading the workforce Working with others 
Managing Performance  
  

 

Main Responsibilities 

Statutory responsibilities: 

 Ensuring that the financial affairs of the PCC are properly administered and that 
the financial regulations drawn up by the PCC (developed in close consultation 
with the Chief Constable, the Chief Finance Officer and the Chief Executive) are 
observed and kept up to date. 

 Reporting of any unlawful, or potentially unlawful, decision on expenditure by 
any member of the OPCC. 

 Reporting any course of action or expenditure which is likely to exceed the 
resources available to meet that expenditure. 

Page 78



 Reporting any activity which is likely to result in the entry of an item of account 
which is unlawful. 

 Advising the PCC on value for money in relation to all aspects of the PCC’s 
expenditure. 

 Advising the PCC on the soundness of the budget. 

 Preparing and producing relevant accounts and statutory and other financial 
returns for the PCC. 

 Producing the group accounts. 

 Establishing a good professional working relationship with external auditors, 
inspectors and other statutory agencies.  

 Commissioning an adequate and effective internal audit function, operating in 
accordance with best practice as recommended by the Institute of Internal 
Auditors and CIPFA as well as statutory obligations and regulations. 

 This is a politically restricted post. 

Other Responsibilities: 

 To manage the totality of the financial affairs of the PCC in all its dealings. 

 As a key member of the PCC’s Management Team, help to develop and 
implement strategy and to resource and deliver the PCC’s strategic objectives 
sustainably and in the public interest. 

 Provision of strategic and tactical financial advice on the funding of the OPCC. 
Must be actively involved in, and able to bring influence to bear on, all strategic 
business decisions of the PCC to ensure immediate and longer term 
implications, opportunities and risks are fully considered, and aligned with the 
PCC's financial strategy. 

 Establish and maintain strong financial management, underpinned by effective 
financial controls, so that public money is safeguarded at all times and used 
appropriately, economically, efficiently and effectively. 

 Help the PCC to set the budget and the policing precept and to agree the capital 
programme. Establish a medium term business and financial planning process 
to deliver the PCC’s strategic objectives, including; a Medium Term Financial 
Strategy, a robust Annual Budget process and a process that enables the PCC 
to monitor the OPCC and the Force budgets. 

 Ensure high standards of financial probity and governance.  

 Ensure that capital investment plans are affordable, prudent and sustainable 
and that treasury management decisions are taken in accordance with good 
professional practice. 

 Ensure that procurement within the organisation takes into account good 
procurement practice and complies with European Union Procurement 
Directives. Act as the strategic lead for procurement within the organisation, 
manage the relationship with the regional procurement units and represent the 
PCC on the Regional Procurement Board. 

 Engage effectively with PCC CFO networks both locally and nationally 
 

 

 

 
 

Page 79



This page is intentionally left blank



Police and Crime Commissioner for Gloucestershire 
 
 
Chief Finance Officer – summary of terms and conditions of 
appointment 
 
Under Schedule 1 of the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 
(“the Act”) the PCC is obliged to appoint a person to be responsible for the 
proper administration of the commissioner’s financial affairs (referred to as the 
chief finance officer or CFO). 
 
The CFO will be employed by the PCC under a contract of employment. 
 
The main terms and conditions of appointment are:- 
 

1. Hours of work and salary – 15 hours per week for which he will be paid 
a salary of £30,000 per annum with provision for attendance on days 
and at times reasonably required by the PCC which will involve work 
outside normal office hours.  No overtime will be paid.  

2. Allowances – travelling and subsistence allowance will be paid at the 
rates applicable to OPCC staff.  

3. Holiday entitlement – 10 days annual leave plus public and bank 
holidays. 

4. Pension – entitlement to join the LGPS. 

5. Termination – on three months’ notice. 

6. Conduct – the Disciplinary Policy and Procedure for Police staff will 
apply. 

7. Performance review and appraisal – the PCC will conduct regular 
performance reviews and appraisals. 

8. The CFO will be subject to the Official Secrets Act 1989 and vetting to 
the relevant level.  The post is politically restricted. 

Page 81



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Minutes of the previous meeting
	5 Police and Crime Panel: Terms of Reference
	Police and Crime Panel Rules of Procedure

	6 Police Funding
	Trott P CEO PCC office - Police funding - 23.5.18.doc

	7 Chief Executive's Report
	8 Annual Report
	9 Police and Crime Plan Priorities Highlight Report
	10 Association of Police and Crime Panels
	11 Confirmatory Hearing - Chief Finance Officer
	Decision 2018 (CFO)
	Report CFO Role Final
	Summary of Terms and Conditions 2018 (CFO)




